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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRMES

Dear Shareholders,

Year 2022 was another challenging year, particularly Hong Kong’s economy
remained sluggish, resulting in a difficult business environment.

Furthermore, global inflation surpassed anticipated levels and persisted,
prompting central banks to swiftly increase interest rates in an effort to
manage it. This led to a highly unpredictable investment landscape. The
economy in the Mainland has also been affected by the COVID pandemic, the
property debt crisis, and the trade tensions between China and the United
States.

Looking ahead to 2023, the global macroeconomic outlook is mixed. While
countries have reopened from the COVID pandemic and tourism is expected
to gradually recover in destinations like Hong Kong, risks such as prolonged
geopolitical tensions, fragile situation in Ukraine and potential financial market
instability pose downside risks to growth. Given this complex environment,
industry performance is likely to vary significantly.

At last, | would like to take this opportunity expressing my warmest thanks to
your support.

Lau Tom Ko Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Business Review

Market Review

With the outbreak of COVID in late December 2019, the Year was still filled
with uncertainty and anxiety. In order to stop the infection and spread of
COVID, China and Hong Kong continued travel restriction and lockdown until
early 2023. These policies have severely affected the livelihood of people and
the business environment.

Hang Seng Index continued to drop 15.5% in the Year after a decline of
14.1% in Year 2021.

Operational Review

During the Year, the Group continued its investment activities in both listed
and unlisted investments as well as other related financial assets.

During the Year, the Company had only disposed a little of the listed
investments. Consequently, the gross proceeds from the disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL, which were revenue in nature, had decreased substantially
from that of the Year 2021.

Due to the market situation, the stock prices and hence the fair value of our
listed investments had mixed results.

Other than the listed investments, the Group did not make any new unlisted
investment during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
B I E o AL

Financial Review

Results for the Year

The Group reported a loss after tax of approximately HK$4.8 million for the
Year compared to the loss of HK$16 million for the Year 2021. Other than the
administrative expenses, investment management expense had been reduced
from HK$4.20 million to HK$0.96 million, finance costs had been reduced by
HK$0.3 million after the repayment of margin loan from proceeds on disposal of
listed securities in the first half of Year 2021 and dividend income received in the
Year also used to repay the margin loan.

The loss for the Year was mainly due to the following reasons:

(i) aloss of approximately HK$1.6 million (Year 2021: loss of HK$1.8 million)
arose from the change in fair value of revenue in nature listed equity
investments at FVTPL as a result of the fluctuations of the stock market;

(i) a gain of approximately HK$4.5 million (Year 2021: loss of HK$1.5
million) arose from the change in fair value of capital in nature listed equity
investments at FVTPL as a result of the fluctuations of the stock market;
and

(i) administrative expenses of approximately HK$7.1 million (Year 2021:
HK$9.3 million).

Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income had a fair value gain on financial assets at fair
value in the amount of approximately HK$0.17 million (Year 2021: loss of
HK$24.04 million). The loss in the Year 2021 was mainly due to the reduced
value of the mine located in Guizhou attributable to the delay of production in
the mine so as to comply with additional requirements of new environmental
policies on extractions etc., implemented since July 2021.

Gross Proceeds from Operations/Revenue

Bt %5 Bl R

rEERE

REBEBRKAFEHRSRBEBIELNBOEER
JC 0 iMm2021 4 F [E Al A& 81,6008 B 7T o &
THHAZ REEEMAZA4208ETHD
ZEBIL HF21IFLEEFHELTMEE
MASEAFERDMOBRERUNEERFREER
BB AI0BAETT -

AEEMEBEEIZEREDMT

() HEBRMmED BREEE RS FER
ABmZ FTRAEEAFEEHEE
BB 1608 B L (2021F FE : B #E
1808 B T) ¢

iy BERME BEAMZD ZZAFET
A FTRARERNTFEEHEL
U 2 #4508 B L (2021 F F £« E 18
1508 B L) + &

(i) TR X Q7108 7 JT (2021 4F F & ¢
9308 A TT) °

H 2 T W 5

Hih2mREPHEAFEFTAEMEZER
HZEMEERATFEHBITE B LK
(2021 F & [Z | F5182,4048 & JT) ° 2021 F F
EMEEITERARURTEEMNNELSF
A2 F7TARBERMNEMNEREEREZEH
BFAFRZERACTMERTEEEESZE
NEEHAK -

REFRBRRAE A

Gross proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
FVTPL which are revenue in nature for tax purposes
ZPTISRRIE B EE

Dividend income % B A

HERAFEFABRS 2SR
BEGIHBEmE SKEED)

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAET
30,908

2,342

33,250

As mentioned in the business review section above, during the Year, the
Group had only disposed a little of the listed investments. Consequently, the
gross proceeds from the disposal of financial assets at FVTPL which were
revenue in nature, had decreased substantially from that of the Year 2021.

6 PROSPERITY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022

I EXEBOE Sl RAFEE - AR
BELELHANLTRE ABHERAF
B ANBGZeREEZMBRALR(BE
HIEE) K021 FFEFRERD



Other Gains and (Losses), net

Other gains and (losses), net mainly comprised of fair value gains/(losses) of

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

B2 E AL
Hth i R (B538) B4

Hib s & (BE) FRIERERAFER

financial assets at FVTPL which analysed in the table below: ABHzemEEy A TFEWKZE(BE) &
TRAEED
For tax purpose
MBS
Revenue in Capital in
nature nature Total
KamHtE EAXME FER-C]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
2022 2022 F
Realised (losses) B # B35 (F18) (575)
Unrealised gains/(losses) §K BIRUW RS (E1E) (1,034)
(1,609)
Net exchange gains 0B U A -
(1,609)
2021 20214
Realised (losses) B (FHi1E) (7,424) — (7,424)
Unrealised gains/(losses) EE BRI (EEE) 5,582 (1,502) 4,080
(1,842) (1,502) (8,344)
Net exchange gains I I 5 14 - 14
(1,828) (1,502) (8,330)
Please refer to results for the Year section above and note 7 to the ;} MRAFESEHEL2RB LA AEENEELH

consolidated financial statements for analysis and details.

Other Income

Other income for the Year was HK$295,000 (Year 2021: HK$0) as
government subsidies were granted by the government of Hong Kong under
the Employment Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund in the Year was
HK$192,000 (Year 2021: HK$0).

Administrative expenses

Among the administrative expenses, staff remuneration of HK$4,024,000 (Year
2021: HK$4,917,000) was the largest item of expenses which represented
approximately 56% (Year 2021: 53%) of the total administrative expenses.
Employees are regarded as the most valuable asset and the Group aims to
reward the staff with competitive remuneration package.
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Hitb e A

FEREAM A E295,000 7T (2021 FEE : T
BEIL) AAFREBSBRANIENEES ]
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TR X

RITE B S 0 4,024,000 7T (2021 & 4 F
4,917,000 T)ME TH M AH RAHZ - Eib
1T BT L #756% (2021 6 JF : 53%) c B T b
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
B I E o AL

Investment management expenses

Investment management expenses of HK$960,000 (Year 2021:
HK$4,200,000) represented expenses paid to Opus Capital for the provision
of investment management services to the Group.

Pursuant to the 2022 IM Agreement, the appointment of Opus Capital as the
investment manager of the Company was renewed with effect from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024 at a fixed monthly management fee of
HK$80,000, which had since been amended by way of a supplemental
agreement as detailed in the section headed “Subsequent Events”.

Finance cost

Finance costs included interest payment to a securities broker for provision of
margin loan and interest expenses of lease liabilities.

In order to better utilize resources, the Group used Margin loan provided by a
securities broker for its investment in listed equity securities since 2017. At
Year End Date, the Margin loan from a securities broker amounted to
approximately HK$10,505,000 (31 December 2021: HK$12,112,000) and the
related interest expenses were approximately HK$1,106,000 (Year 2021:
HK$1,439,000). The proceeds from disposal of listed investments in the first
half of Year 2021 and dividend income received in the Year used to reduce
the margin loan. Hence, interest paid in the Year was lower than that of Year
2021.

At Year End Date, the lease liabilities of the Group amounted to HK$0 (31
December 2021: HK$0) and the related interest expenses for the Year was
HKS30 (Year 2021: HK$4,000).

Investments/Significant Investments

The investment objective of the Group is to enhance the corporate value to
the Shareholders. The strategy of the Group is to identify and invest in both
listed and unlisted investments with potential of growth within their industries.
In identifying potential investment, the Group will consider its business
segment, operation, current value and the potential of going public. Currently,
the Group has no specific industry focus on potential investment.

As mentioned in the market review and operational review, COVID pandemic
affected the stock market and hence, the value of listed investments of the
Group had mixed results at Year End Date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
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At Year End Date, the Group held the following significant investments: REEB  AEBEBEUTERKE
ITC Properties Group Ltd (“ITC”) EHEEEERAT ((EHHLE]
(00199.HK) (00199.HK)
Information for this investment: B ER
()  during the Year, share price decreased by 13.79%. () RAEFE KRETKI3.79% -
(i) during the Year, realised loss was HK$0 and the unrealized loss at Year (i) RAFE BE2EBEEAZTE TR
End Date amounted to HK$49,185,000 which was after the impairment TS /% B 7& i 25 € Bl 55 O 9% AT &9 L
loss of HK$ 1,284,000 before the adoption of HKFRS 9. BE 151,284,000 018 - RELE R Z K

435 B 18 /5 49,185,000/ 7T ©

(i) at Year End Date, number and percentage of shares held were (i) RELB  FAHEKRHEE RS R A
22,940,763 shares and 2.51% respectively. 22,940,763 1% 5. 2.51% °

(v) at Year End Date, its size relative to the Group’s total assets was (v) REHH HEEHEUARETLEE
38.48%. B Lt Pl /3.38.48% °

ITC will focus on the presale of the remaining blocks in Macau and the fE&EBE TV Fﬂ&iﬁﬁ%ﬁ%TﬁﬁZi‘E

remaining units in Hong Kong and the other local redevelopment projects in & T{ELA KB HEE ﬁﬁ AiEREEEH  UBEH
Hong Kong to secure the revenue for the coming few years. In addition to 51% REF 7 Wk o BRI ETIS#E— %/F?J;%Eé Er
stepping their businesses further to the PRC, Macau, Canada and the United ORFT S MMERREE SN - B E SRS

Kingdom, ITC will keep on improving earnings and enhancing the %;f(f EFHEER UEENSAFNNLREARE
Shareholders’ value by working hard on the projects on hand and at the (B{E X WA @WK B LREFEIME  FER
same time, be selective and cautious on replenishing the ITC’s portfolio when — #i{EEthE 2 484

suitable opportunities arise.

Greater Bay Area Dynamic Growth Holding Limited REERBE HEZERER AT
(“Dynamic Growth”) (01189.HK) ([B% HE] (01189.HK)
Information for this investment: ZILEZER

()  during the Year, share price decreased by 38.10%. () HAFE  BRETES38.10% -

(i) during the Year, realised loss was HK$0 and the unrealized loss at Year (i) RAFE B8R EBEAZTHE TR ET

End Date amounted to HK$11,349,000 which was after the impairment REREBTE RS ER FE 9% B8R
loss of HK$19,725,000 before the adoption of HKFRS 9. B E51819,725,0008 T2 REH B 2

&35 5518 511,349,000 7T

(i)  at Year End Date, number and percentage of shares held were (i) RELH  FIHERMHEE RLH 5 R4
39,000,000 shares and 4.94% respectively. 39,000,000 % X2 4.94% ©

(v)  atYear End Date, its size relative to the Group’s total assets was 6.80%. (v) RELAH ERERERAEEHRLEE
B £ 7] %36.80% ©

2022 F3 | REREERBRLA




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
B I E o AL

The hotel sector is moving forward towards a ’'new normal’, with
unprecedented health and safety measures in place. Thus, Dynamic Growth
have begun consolidating internal operational efficiency in response to
change in the markets. Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances, the
revenue of Dynamic Growth will continue to be impacted during a period
when Dynamic Growth is taking strict precautionary measures to ensure the
health and safety of its employees, and supporting the steps taken by the
governments to control the further spread of COVID. However, the
widespread occurrence of COVID should not cause long-term damage to
hotel sector but will inevitably be a short-term impact to their performance
and prospects. Dynamic Growth will attempt to stay vigilant and be proactive
in responding to these extraordinary with shareholders about the significance
for operating results.

Rakarta Limited (“Rakarta”)

Information for this investment:
(i) during the Year, fair value increased by HK$169,000.

(ii) during the Year, realised loss is HK$0 and unrealised loss at Year End
Date amounted to HK$34,197,000 respectively.

@iy  at Year End Date, number and percentage of shares held are 147
shares and 14.70% respectively.

(iv)  at Year End Date, its size relative to the Group’s total assets is 33.86%.

Rakarta Limited is an unlisted investment holding company with its subsidiary
principally engaged in zinc and lead mining in the PRC. The mine has
obtained the exploitation licence and is in the process of planning the
extraction of the minerals. Depending on the market conditions, the
management of the mine expects that the sales of the minerals, being
commonly used minerals, provide positive cash flows to the operation of the
mine in the future.

For a detailed understanding of the performance and future prospects of
those listed significant investments, please refer to the published annual/
interim reports of the respective listed companies as shown on the HKExnews
of the Stock Exchange. Other details of significant investments of the Group
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At Year End Date, the Group had: () cash and cash equivalent of
approximately HK$455,000 (31 December 2021: HK$2,488,000); and (i) a
loan of approximately HK$10,505,000 (31 December 2021: HK$12,112,000)
from a securities broker for margin financing of listed equity investments of
the Group.
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In order to better utilize the resources, the Group used margin loan provided
by a securities broker for the investment in listed equity investments since
2017. Details of the margin loan are set out in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio (total liabilities/total assets) at Year End Date was 25.71% (Year
2021: 22.72%).

Capital structure

It is the treasury policy in utilizing Shareholders’ fund and internal resources
primarily for the investing activities and daily operations of the Group. In order
to preserve resources for potential investments and daily operations, the
Group may also borrow from third parties when the circumstances thought
fit. Funds are mainly kept in HK$ and will be translated into foreign currencies
when necessary. The Group has no hedging policy.

Details of the margin loan are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Outlook

Looking ahead to 2023, the global macroeconomic outlook is mixed. While
countries have reopened from the COVID pandemic and tourism is expected
to gradually recover in destinations like Hong Kong, risks such as prolonged
geopolitical tensions, fragile situation in Ukraine and potential financial market
instability pose downside risks to growth. Given this complex environment,
industry performance is likely to vary significantly.

Other Information

Charges on assets

Charges on assets of the Group are set out in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Litigation
There was no outstanding litigation as at Year End Date.

Contingent liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities as at Year End Date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
B I E o AL

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

During the Year, the investments of the Group were mainly denominated in
HK$, USD and RMB. Since HK$ is pegged to USD, significant exposure is
not expected in USD transactions and balances. During the Year, the bank
and cash balances in RMB were not significant and the exposure to RMB is
insignificant.

The Group does not have foreign exchange hedging policy. However,
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Due to the business nature, the Group has no major customer and supplier.
Therefore, there is no ageing analysis of the accounts receivable and
accounts payable.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

At Year End Date, the Group had 8 employees and 4 Directors. The
remuneration packages of the employees and Directors include monthly
salary, contribution to MPF Scheme, overtime payment, discretionary bonus
and directors’ fee. Remuneration policies of the Group is to reward the
employees and the Directors with remuneration packages in accordance with
the market situation and their performance from time to time. Remuneration
Committee will meet at least once a year to review the remuneration policy
and package of Directors and senior management of the Group. The
remuneration of other employees is determined by the managing director of
the Group. No Director or executive is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Group has participated in the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under
the control of an independent trustee. Pursuant to the rules of the MPF
Scheme and the policy of the Group, the Group and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of their monthly
relevant income. Forfeited contribution can be used to reduce future
contribution of the Group. There was no forfeited contribution during the
Year.

On-the-job training and continuous professional development are important
elements to enhance the industry knowledge of the employees of the Group.
The Group encourages employees to attend training courses and
reimbursement will be made by the Group for those job-related training
courses. Besides, the Group will purchase relevant reference materials for the
employees’ on-the-job reference.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities can be found in the

Management Discussion of this annual report which form part of this
directors’ report.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 48.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year (Year
2021: Nil).

Share Capital

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company during the

Year. Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Plant and Equipments

Details of movements during the Year in plant and equipments of the Group
are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Donations

During the Year, the Group made charitable donation amounting to HK$1,000
(Year 2021: HK$1,000).
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FEQRE

Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Director

Vacant (from 10 June 2021)

Non-Executive Director

Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. FENG Nien Shu
Mr. LUI Siu Tsuen, Richard
Ms. WONG Lai Kin, Elsa

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws and CG Code of the Listing
Rules, Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen, Mr. FENG Nien Shu, Mr. LUl Siu Tsuen,
Richard and Ms. WONG Lai Kin, Elsa shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management

The biographical details of Directors and senior management as at 30 March
2023, the latest practicable date before printing of this annual report are set
out below:

Executive Director

Vacant (from 10 June 2021)
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Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen, aged 72, was appointed as non-executive Director
and subsequently re-designated as executive Director and appointed as
chairman of the Company in 2009. In 2010, he was redesignated as non-
executive Director and deputy chairman of the Company. He has
redesignated as executive Director and appointed as Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company on 21 May 2021. He was redesignated as non-
executive Director and remained as Chairman on 10 June 2021. He is a
member of the remuneration committee and a director of the subsidiaries of
the Company. He has over 45 years of international corporate development
and management experience in infrastructure developments as well as
construction and engineering services involving the road, rail, port, power,
telecommunications, mining and resources sectors in the Asia Pacific Region.
Mr. Lau was previously the chairman and managing director of Blue River
Holdings Limited (formerly known as PY| Corporation Limited) (00498.HK), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and resigned as
executive director in May 2021. Mr. Lau was the deputy chairman and
executive director of South Shore Holdings Limited (00577.HK) up to June
2020, the shares of which were delisted from the Stock Exchange in February
2023.

On 21 December 2017, the non-executive Director had entered into
appointment letter with the Company for a term commencing from 21
December 2017 and continue until terminated by either party by not less than
three months prior written notice or any time agreed by both parties. He is
subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from
office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-Laws of
the Company. There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

During the Year, the non-executive Director did not received any remuneration
from the Company.

DIRECTORS” REPORT
FEQ RS

FHUITES

BISRATE 725  R2009F EZ T AT
EET HEFACARLARANTESRESZMF
REF - HER2010FFHAEARARRAFENTE
EREIER - E2021F5 A21 BW AT BT
EENWEAARAIEFRESARE - &
2021 F6 A0 AT AIERNTEST LB EE
F-BATHEZESKERARAAMNERF
LEE-FREAMEZ AR #EEK - EQ -
B BRE RBEMEREESEWRER

BETREBBEHIEEASF 2 EAELCERRE
REBRER A EESETENERBERA
A(ATTBREEBE B R 2 F])(00498.HK) (B 32
FTEREMAR) 2 EFRBE - WH20214F
SAHBRERTES BILESETHERAEREEA
fR A 8)(00577.HK) 2 8l £ & K117 % & £2020
F6H AR R2023F2 BHHEZATRT ©

MR2017F 128218 - ERITEFH AR A F]
SN ETK T BR2017F 12821 BB 0 4
BIEF BRIFEFERN—FEBEHTIPR =
AT HpEsTNBE2EEEZERBNT
NEIERIE EREEBETFART 2 AFIMEA 2
RE REERIRAEFAEL 28BE=2
=prz—EmERT - EEgrKkEZAET
EAMERBRENE 2% REXIHME
XEBER) -

AEE  FRTEFLRAEARAKDE
B

202 %% | BEpEEBRERAT 19D



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard, aged 67, was appointed as an INED in 2009.
He is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. He is a fellow member of both HKICPA and The
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in the United Kingdom. He
holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of
Adelaide in Australia. He has over 30 years of experience in property
investment, corporate finance and media and entertainment business. Mr. Lui
is currently an executive director of eSun Holdings Limited (00571.HK) and
Media Asia Group Holdings Limited. eSun Holdings Limited is listed on the
Stock Exchange while Media Asia Group Holdings Limited (formerly 08075.
HK) has been withdrawn from listing on 20 March 2023 after merged with
eSun Holdings Limited under a share exchange offer.

Mr. Feng Nien Shu, aged 57, was appointed as an INED in 2009. He is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Windsor in Canada and
a Bachelor of Arts degree from the York University in Canada. He has over 27
years of experience in investment, merger and acquisition in China and South
East Asia.

Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa, aged 57, was appointed as an INED in 2009. She
is a member of the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. She holds a Bachelor and Master degree in Law from The
University of Hong Kong, as well as a Master degree in Corporate Finance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Wong is a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong and Supreme Court of England and Wales, a
member of the Hong Kong Law Society and Hong Kong Society for Financial
Analysts. She is also a Chartered Financial Analyst. Ms. Wong has over 30
years of experience in the legal profession, primarily working as corporate
counsel and company secretary of Hong Kong listed companies. Ms. Wong
was previously an independent non-executive director of Blue River Holdings
Limited (formerly known as PY!| Corporation Limited) (00498.HK), a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and resigned on 3 February
2021.

On 21 December 2017, all independent non-executive Directors have entered
into appointment letters with the Company for a term commencing from 21
December 2017 and continue until terminated by either party by not less than
three months prior written notice or any time agreed by both parties. They are
subject to the requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire from
office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-Laws of
the Company.
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During the Year, each of the INEDs received director’s fee of HK$100,000 per
annum. The director’s fee for each of the INEDs will remain at HK$100,000
per annum for year 2023 which is determined with reference to their duties
and the prevailing market conditions.

Senior Management

Mr. Wan Tat Kay, Dominic Savio, aged 66, was appointed as financial
controller and company secretary of the Group on 1 June 2021. He is also a
director of the subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wan has over 28 years of
experience in auditing and financial management of companies across
various business sectors. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a practising certified public
accountant in Hong Kong.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Confirmation of Independence of
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation
of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the INEDs are independent.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, Directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, provided that this indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the
Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against the Directors.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

At Year End Date, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company and any of their associates in the Shares and
underlying Shares or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as
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follows:
Long positions in the Shares RERGBZER
Percentage of
issued share
Personal Family* Corporate* Total capital of the
Interests Interests Interests Interests Company
LI NNE |
BERITREZ
Name of Director EEHZ &8 AR RRRER" UNETR £ MRS Ao
Lau Tom Ko Yuen =y 53,400,000 266,890,840 266,890,840 320,290,840 26.44%
(Note)
(B &E)
*  Beneficial owner * BEmEAA
*  Interests of spouse T EEE
* Interests beneficially held by the company itself or through companies controlled  * XA AR ARG EBELH 2 AT ERESR
by it
Note: R -

266,890,840 Shares were held by Favor Hero Investments Limited, a company
controlled as to 51% by Sun Matrix Limited. Sun Matrix Limited was controlled as to
50% by Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen and 50% by Ms. Lan Yi, the spouse of Mr. Lau Tom Ko
Yuen.

Save as disclosed above, at Year End Date, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company nor their associates had or was deemed to have
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares or any of its
associated corporations as recorded in the register that required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders

At Year End Date, the following persons had interests and short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EETHRE

FERR

BARARREBES RPEHRIIFIBHRATE
ZERMARLE  THALTRFHEAREN
REBEROTHEA RS RAR

Long positions in the Shares RN Z2HA
Percentage of
issued share
Personal Family* Corporate? Total capital of the
Interest Interests Interests Interests Company
LR NN
BITRA
Name of Shareholder MR &R & 7% (5PN £ RikfEm: ARER 48 R ZEDL
Favor Hero Investments  Favor Hero Investments — — 266,890,840 266,890,840 22.03%
Limited Limited (Note)
(B 5%)
Sun Matrix Limited Sun Matrix Limited — — 266,890,840 266,890,840 22.03%
(Note)
(%)
Lau Tom Ko Yuen* SIS 53,400,000 266,890,840 266,890,840 320,290,840 26.44%
(Note)
(P &E)
LanYi B — — 320,290,840 266,890,840 320,290,840 26.44%
(Note)
(PR 3%)
Glory Avenue Limited Glory Avenue Limited — — 266,890,840 266,890,840 22.03%
(Note)
(M%)
Silvery Fortune REER — — 266,890,840 266,890,840 22.03%
Holdings Limited AR A A (Note)
(BT =E)
Liu Min 2|5 — — 266,890,840 266,890,840 22.03%
(Note)
(M 5%)
* Interests of spouse © BEEER
*  Interests beneficially held by the company itself or through companies controlled  *  EZBA AR AR B BELG 2 ARIERES

by it

* Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen is a non-executive Director and Chairman of the Company.
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Note:

Favor Hero Investments Limited was controlled as to 51% by Sun Matrix Limited and as
to 49% by Glory Avenue Limited. Sun Matrix Limited was controlled as to 50% by Mr.
Lau Tom Ko Yuen and 50% by Ms. Lan Yi, the spouse of Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen. Glory
Avenue Limited was wholly controlled by Silvery Fortune Holdings Limited which was
wholly controlled by Mr. Liu Min.

Save as disclosed above, at Year End Date, the Directors were not aware of
any other person who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register that required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and/or were directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of the share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other
members of the Group.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate and neither the Directors nor the chief executive, nor
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Company.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.
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Connected Transaction

Investment Management Agreement

2022 IM Agreement

On 26 January 2022, the Company entered into the 2022 IM Agreement with
Opus Capital for the appointment of Opus Capital as the Company’s
investment manager for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2024.

Under the 2022 IM Agreement, Opus Capital is entitled to:

()  amanagement fee of a fixed amount of HK$80,000 per month (exclusive
of disbursements); and

(b)  discretionary bonus, if any and at such amount as the Board may at its
discretion determine, provided that no such bonus shall be payable
unless the Adjusted NAV as at the end of each Financial Year exceeds
the higher of: () the Net Asset Value for the year ended 31 December
2021; and (i) the Adjusted NAV of the most recent Financial Year after
year 2021 for which Opus Capital is paid a discretionary bonus. The
amount of such bonus will be capped at HK$200,000 for each financial
year. Such bonus, if any, shall be paid within 30 days after the issue of
the audited financial statements of the Group for the relevant Financial
Year.

An amendment had been made and announced on 21 March 2023, reducing
the monthly management fee from HK$80,000 to HK$40,000 from 1 March
2023 until the contract expired on 31 December 2024.

Information on Opus Capital

Opus Capital is a corporation licensed to carry out Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. It was incorporated in Hong
Kong in 2014 and is principally engaged in the business of provision of
investment services covering traditional and alternative investments via
various platforms.

Being the investment managers of the Company, Opus Capital are connected
person under Rule 14A.08 of the Listing Rules.

Further particulars of the above connected transaction is disclosed in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements and it has complied with the
requirements (including the disclosure requirements) of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have other
connected transaction.
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The Board (including INEDs) confirmed that the 2022 IM Agreement are
entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual course of business, on
normal commercial terms and such transaction is fair and reasonable, in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole and is conducted in accordance with

the terms of 2022 IM Agreement.

The Board confirmed that the auditor of the Company has issued to the
Board an unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transaction of the Group in accordance with Rule

14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

Save as the investment management agreement, the details of which are
disclosed under the connected transaction section of this report, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed

during the Year.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The principal risks of the Group are highlighted as below:

1. The principal activity of the Group is highly affected by the volatility and
uncertainty of the worldwide economies which in turn affect the earning
power of business enterprises and the fluctuation in stock markets.
Hence, the Group is subject to the risk of decrease in the price and

value of its investments measured at FVTPL and FVOCI.

2. For investments measured at FVTPL, the financial impact on the
decrease in price of the investments is set out in note 29.2(ji) to the

consolidated financial statements.

3. For investments measured at FVOCI, the financial impact on the
decrease in fair value of the investments which in turn causes a
decrease in Net Asset Value is set out in note 29.5 to the consolidated

financial statements.

4, In order to mitigate the risk, the Group engages an experienced
investment director and investment manager to manage the diversified
investment portfolio of the Group. Besides, an investment committee

will also review the investment portfolio regularly.
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Key Performance Indicator

Being an investment company, the objective of the Group is to invest in
quality investments which in turn enhance the corporate value to the
Shareholders. For both short term and long term investments, a major
objective of the Group is to achieve a gain in asset value of the investments
which in turn increase the value of the Group. Hence, the Net Asset Value,
which shows the value of the Group, is considered as the key performance
indicator of the Group. The Net Asset Value is set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environment Policies and Performance

The Group promotes environmental protection in daily business operations
including recycling consumables such as papers and reducing the energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings and appliances.

The Group will review its environmental protection practices from time to time
and will consider further eco-friendly measures and practices in the operation.

The environmental policies and performance of the Group are discussed in
more detail in the ESG Report of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group pays attention to legal and regulatory requirements in designing its
policies and practices. Being listed in the Stock Exchange with businesses
mainly in Hong Kong and the PRC, the laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the Group include Listing Rules and those laws of Hong
Kong on securities, companies, taxation and labour. The Listing Rules, laws
on securities and companies govern the listing and legal status of the Group,
the trading of the Shares and equity investments on the Stock Exchange. The
law on taxation governs the taxability of the activities of the Group which in
turn affects the profit and loss attributable to the Shareholders. The law on
labour governs the employment of the Group which affects the remuneration
and retirement benefits payable to the employees of the Group. The Board is
not aware of any significant non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations.
Legal and compliance advisers will be engaged when necessary to ensure
the Group operates in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
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Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group identified that the key stakeholders are employees of the Group
and the Shareholders.

Employees

The activities of the Group is heavily relied on the quality and loyalty of the
employees. Employees are regarded as the most valuable assets of the
Group. The Group is aimed to reward the staff with competitive remuneration
package and to provide staff with healthy and safety working environment.
Staff are encouraged to attend training courses and reimbursement will be
made for job-related training courses. The Group also promotes the employee
involvement in effective communications in designing its policies and
practices. The “social” section of the ESG Report has a more detalil
discussion.

Shareholders

The Shareholders support the Group’s activities by providing funding to the
Group. One of the goals of the Group is to enhance the corporate value to
the Shareholders. The Group strives to obtain the quality investments in order
to enhance the asset value and profitability of the Group which in turn the
wealth of the Shareholders. The Group maintains regular communication with
Shareholders by way of general meetings and announcements.

Customers and Suppliers

Due to the business nature, the Group has no major customer and supplier.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares
of the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares during the Year.
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Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
Laws, or the Company Act (1981) of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption

Except for dividend income which is exempt from tax in Hong Kong, the
Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of holding the Shares.

Dividend Policy

The Board may declare dividend from time to time. The Board has absolute
discretion in the declaration of dividend after taking into account the following
factors:

Reserves of the Group available for distribution;
Performance of the Group;

Anticipation of future outlook of the economy;

Liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group; and

o~ =

Any other matters considered appropriate by the Board.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to Year End Date, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement to the 2022 IM Agreement with Opus Capital on 21 March 2023,
pursuant to which the parties agreed to revise the monthly management fee
payable by the Company under the 2022 IM Agreement from 1 March 2023
to 31 December 2024 from HK$80,000 to HK$40,000 per month.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other major event subsequent to Year
End Date as at the date of this announcement.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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Closure of the Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 24 May 2023 to
31 May 2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to determine the identity of the shareholders who
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all duly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 23 May 2023.

Auditor

CL Partners CPA Limited retires and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Lau Tom Ko Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework of
corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to Shareholders.

The Company adopted all the code provisions in the CG Code as its own
code on corporate governance practices.

During the Year, the Company complied with the code provisions in the CG
Code except for the following deviations:

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Cheng Hairong, prior to 21 May 2021 and Mr. Lau Tom
Ko Yuen from 21 May 2021 to 9 June 2021 being the only executive Director,
and the chairman of the Company, has assumed the role of managing
Director of the Company as well. The Board believes that in light of the nature
and scale of the Group’s business operations, it is in the interest of the Group
for Mr. Cheng Hairong and Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen to be the chairman and
assume the role of managing Director of the Company at the same time, as it
helps to ensure consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
considers that the balance of power and authority for the present
arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will enable the Company
to make and implement decisions promptly and effectively.

From 10 June 2021, due to the position of executive director was vacant, all
investing/divesting activities had to be pre-approved by Opus Capital.

The Company is actively looking for a suitable person. Once a new executive
director is appointed, the Company will be in compliance with the above code
provision.

The Board

Composition

The Board currently consists of one non-executive Director and three INEDs.
Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard, an INED, has the appropriate professional
accounting experience and expertise. The names and biographical details of
each Director are set out on pages 15 to 16 of this annual report.
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During the Year, all Directors have attended seminars and provided reading
materials covering a wide range of topics including corporate governance and
updates on the Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance. All Directors have
provided record of seminars attendance. The Company will continue to
arrange and/or fund the training in accordance with the CG Code. The Board
has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Group.

Function

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and the
Company'’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the strategy of the
Group, major acquisition and disposal, major capital investment, dividend
policy, appointment and retirement of Directors, remuneration policy and
other major operational and financial matters. Day-to-day operations of the
Group are taken up by the Company’s management and the Company’s
investment manager.

The Board established schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its decision and those reserved for the management. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to the
needs of the Company.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on
corporate governance, risk management, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. The
Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary.

The Board established procedures to enable Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.

Since 10 June 2021, the Board meets on a monthly basis to approve net
assets value announcement due to the vacancy in the position of executive
director.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Additional board meetings were held when necessary. Due notice and board
papers were given to all Directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the CG Code.

The attendance records of the Directors for the Board and committee
meetings and the general meetings for the Year are as follows:
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No. of meetings attended/No. of meetings held

HESB Y ETERRH
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
ESE EREEE FMHWEEE REZEEE BRERAE
Directors BE
Executive Director HITES
Vacant (from 10 June 2021) B {7 82 2= (3202156 A 10 H #E)
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Lau Tom Ko Yuen (Chairman) 2l& R (£ /&Z) 14/14 N/A 2/2 2/2 1/1
i A
INEDs BIYFHTES
Feng Nien Shu W2 14/14 3/3 2/2 2/2 11
Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard BKR 14/14 3/3 2/2 N/A 11
i A
Wong Lai Kin, Elsa HEER 14/14 3/3 N/A 2/2 11
i A
Total number of mestings REFERLT
held during the Year SHEY 14 3 2 2 1

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company adopted the Model Code as the codes of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors and by relevant employees of the
Company. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the
Company, that they fully complied with the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the Year.

ESETESREZEE

<F Hi

AAREBRMNEZETAELEEBEERAR
Tmf'%{EEL BHER %ZE&#EE"M%«$
NEIEHARERNE 2RESERRFES

EA$$FW—E£EEWT¥%
TEHFX SR TTH

SFRHIMESSE

02%% | BepaEErsRas 29




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BEEARS

Board Committees

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise, there
are three board committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee formed under the Board, with each

performing different functions.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of three INEDs, namely Mr. LUl Siu Tsuen,
Richard, Mr. FENG Nien Shu and Ms. WONG Lai Kin, Elsa. The Audit

Committee is chaired by Mr. LUl Siu Tsuen, Richard.

The role and function of the Audit Committee include:

— to serve as a focal point for communication between other directors
and the auditor in respect of the duties relating to financial and other
reporting, internal controls, audits, and such other matters as the Board

may determine from time to time.

— to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing an
independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by satisfying
themselves as to the effectiveness of the internal controls of the Group

and the adequacy of the audits.

—  to review the appointment of auditor on an annual basis including the

review of the audit scope and approval of the audit fees.

— to review the annual and interim financial statements prior to their
approval by the Board, and recommend application of accounting

policies and changes to the financial reporting requirements.

—  to ensure continuing auditor objectivity and to safeguard independence

of the Company’s auditor.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:

— to review the financial statements for Year 2021 and for the six months

ended 30 June 2022;

—  to review of the effectiveness of the internal control of the Company;

and

—  toreview the independence of auditor.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of one non-executive director
namely Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen and two INEDs, namely Mr. FENG Nien Shu
and Mr. LUI Siu Tsuen, Richard. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by
Mr. FENG Nien Shu.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee include formulation of
the remuneration policy, review and recommending to the Board the annual
remuneration policy, and determination of the remuneration of the executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model under the
CG Code to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Director and senior management. The
Directors are remunerated with reference to their respective duties and
responsibility with the Company, the Company’s performance and current
market situation.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:

—  toreview of the remuneration policy and package; and

—  to approve and review the remuneration of non-executive Directors.

Details of Directors’ emoluments for the Year are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises of one non-executive director namely
Mr. LAU Tom Ko Yuen and two INEDs, namely Mr. FENG Nien Shu and Ms.
WONG Lai Kin, Elsa. The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. LAU Tom
Ko Yuen.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, formulating relevant procedures
for nomination of Directors, identifying qualified individuals to become
members of the Board and making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
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Directors or Shareholders, in accordance to the Bye-Laws of the Company,
may nominate candidate for appointment as Director. When assessing
candidates for directorship, the nomination committee will take into
consideration the skills, experience, education background, professional
knowledge, personal integrity, board diversity and potential contribution to the
Company of the proposed candidates. The proposed candidates should
meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules.
Potential candidates for INED should also meet the independence criteria set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will then be
recommended to the Board for approval.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the Year:
— to review the structure, size and composition of Board; and

—  toreview the policy and procedures for nomination of Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets out
the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company will also
take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in determining
the optimum composition of the Board.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledged that it is responsible for the Systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Systems are designed to manage rather that eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of the Systems and the Board oversees the management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Risk Management System

The Group adopted a risk management policy which sets out the structure of
the risk management, responsibility between Directors and management of
the Group, and the procedures on the risk management of the Group.

The Board identified risks in accordance with the business nature of the
Group. For those significant risks identified, the management will prepare
relevant policies and procedures for the daily operation of the Group.
Management will monitor the significant risk during the operation and report
to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk management system on a regular
basis. Weakness identified in the risk management system will be remediated
as soon as possible.

Internal Control System

Internal control systems were set up according to the operations of the Group
which cover the financial, operational and compliance aspects of the Group.
Relevant policies and procedures have been prepared for the daily operation
of the management. Internal audit consultant will review the effectiveness of
the internal control systems on rotational basis with each system to be
reviewed at least once in every three years. The internal audit consultant will
report the review results to the audit committee and Board twice a year.

Specific to the dissemination of inside information, the Group has an inside
information disclosure policy and procedures which set out procedures on
the dissemination of inside information. An inside information disclosure
committee has been set up to manage the dissemination of the inside
information. Whenever there is inside information, the inside information
disclosure committee will make recommendation to the Board for the
approval of disseminating the inside information. The internal audit consultant
will review the effectiveness of this internal control system and report to the
Board for remedial action if weakness were identified.

Internal Audit

An independent third party with extensive experience in reviewing internal
control system of listed companies has been engaged to perform the internal
audit function of the Group. The scope of internal audit will be determined at
the start of each year. As part of the ongoing review of the Systems, the
internal audit reviews the Systems, makes recommendation and reports to
the audit committee twice a year.
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Review and effectiveness of the Systems

The management provided confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of
the Systems which cover the Year on a quarterly basis. As mentioned above,
the internal audit consultant reviews the Systems and reports to the audit
committee and the Board twice a year.

In addition to the above, the Board in its annual review further considered
that: (i) there are no changes in the nature and extent of significant risks and
the Group’s ability to respond to changes in the business and external
environment; (i) the scope and quality of the ongoing monitoring of the
Systems by the management, internal audit consultant and external auditor
are adequate; (jii) the extent and frequency of communicating the monitoring
results to the Board are sufficient; (iv) there is no significant control failure or
weakness; and (v) the processes for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance are effective.

The Board, through its review on the regular confirmation from the
management and the internal audit function, concluded that the Systems
were effective and adequate. It also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programmes and budget provided were sufficient.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, Messrs. CL Partner CPA
Limited during the Year for auditing and non-auditing services is analysed as
below:
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Auditing for the Year REFZEH 588,000
Including Auditing for five Hong Kong Subsidiaries PREALRAASFRAAINES

Non-auditing: IR

Agreed-upon procedures on Preliminary Results NEBYLEE N2 (Included in)

Announcement for the Year WERF (B8E)

588,000

Agreed-upon procedures on Continuing RFEEHBEHERIZHERRF 10,000

Connected Transactions for the Year
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Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
financial statements. The statement of the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 42 to 47.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Shareholders, holding at the
date of deposit of the written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
may require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may do so.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting following the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. The written requisition should be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the head office of the Company, specifying the shareholders’
contact details and the resolution intended to be put forward at general
meeting.

For including a resolution to propose a person for election as a Director at
general meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the Bye-Laws of the
Company. A written notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person to
be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting of the
Company for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such
person for election and also a written notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office of the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least seven days and that the period
for lodgment of such notices shall commence no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting of the Company appointed for
such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting. The written notice must state that person’s biographical
details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. The procedures for
Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director is posted on the
Company’s website.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s registrar. Shareholders and the investment community may at
any time make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publically available. Shareholders may also make enquiries
to the Board by writing to the company secretary at the Company’s head
office in Hong Kong at Suite 305, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Shareholder Communication and Investor

Relations

The objective of Shareholder communication is to provide Shareholders with
detailed information about the Company so that they can exercise their rights

as Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure Shareholders
are kept well informed of key business imperatives. These include annual
general meeting, annual report, various notices, announcements and
circulars. Procedure for voting by poll has been read out by the chairman at

the general meeting.

At the general meetings held during the Year, a separate resolution was
proposed by the chairman in respect of each separate issue, including re-
election of the Directors and were voted by poll. The Company appointed the
share registrar of the Company to act as scrutineer of the poll to ensure that
votes cast are properly counted and recorded. The results of the poll were

announced in accordance with the Listing Rules.

During the Year, there had been no change in the Company‘s constitutional

documents.

On 1 January 2022, the Listing Rules were amended by, among others,
adopting a uniform set of 14 core shareholder protection standards for
issuers regardless of their place of incorporation set out in Appendix 3 to the
Listing Rules. The Board proposes to make certain amendments to the
Memorandum or Association and Bye-laws to conform to the said core
shareholder protection standards and to incorporate certain housekeeping
changes. The Board also proposes to adopt the new Memorandum of
Association and Bye-Laws in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the

existing Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws.

The proposed amendments to the Memorandum of Association and Bye-
Laws shall be subject to the passing of a special resolution by the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of

the Company.
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Scope

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

The principal activities of the Group is investment activities in listed and
unlisted investments and other related financial assets. This report covers the
principal activities of the Company and its principal subsidiaries for the Year.
It focuses on the aspects which have been identified as material to the
principal activities of the Group.

The environmental and social areas are addressed in this report and the
governance area is addressed in the corporate governance report as set out
on pages 38 to 41 of this annual report.

Overview

The approach and strategy of the Group for the environmental and social
areas is to raise the awareness of the employees in these areas which turn
into action during the daily operation of the Group with the objectives: (i) to
cause less harm to the environment and contribute to the environmental
friendly eco-system of the world; (i) to be a responsible employer; and (i) to
enhance the wealth of the stakeholders.

In order to achieve the above objectives, the Board aware the importance of
and acknowledge the responsibility for the strategy and reporting the
environmental and social areas of the Group.

Aspects which are considered material and in high priorities in the
environmental and social areas are highlighted as below.
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RIE @ kERRE

Environmental

The principal activities of the Group is investment activities in listed and
unlisted investments and other related financial assets. The use of resources
of the Group are mainly electricity and papers for office and reporting
purposes. The major emission of greenhouse gas is carbon dioxide through
the consumption of electricity and papers.

Emissions and use of resources

It is the policy of the Group to minimise the use of resources in order to
reduce the emission of carbon dioxide. The resources consumption and
emission are listed as below:

7 5%

AEBZTERH AN LT RIEFLTRE
REMHEBEREENRELD - AEEH
ROER TERENRAEETNEM  RIER
TRMER - HEREIRARNBEP A
HORERBIER _SALHK-

FHRERER

AEENBRRBERDEREIRNLBEK
“HEHNERE - BRBERELERESRT
s

Resources consumption/Carbon dioxide emission Unit

BFHE —HmERE By

Resources consumption &R

Paper consumption tonnes 0.32
HoRIEFE L7

Carbon dioxide emission (indirect emissions) — &1t ik B i 2 (52 Bk k)

Paper consumption tCO,e 1.48

AROROH FE

Electricity was covered by the landlord without separate meter. Hence, the
resources consumption and carbon dioxide emission of electricity are not
available.

The water consumption of the Group is minimum and immaterial. In view of
the business nature, the Group is not aware of any significant generation of
hazardous waste.

In view of the principal activities of the Group, the Group is not aware of any
relevant laws and regulations in relation to environmental protection that have
significant impact on the Group.

All automobiles had been disposed and replacement purchased were either
hybrid or electricity driven in order to reduce carbon dioxide emission.
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Impact on use of resources

In order to minimise the impact on environment, it is the aim of the Group to
minimise the use of resources in order to reduce the emission of carbon
dioxide. The Group has the following measures for achieving this aim:

1. switching off unnecessary lighting and electronic appliances (e.g.
computer) in order to reduce the electricity consumption;

2. using FSC certified paper for printing of interim and annual reports;

3. encouraging the employees to use electronic means for record keeping
in order to reduce the use of paper;

4, encouraging employees to use one-side printed recycle paper for
printing draft;

5. using air-conditioning with thermostats to maintain optimum
temperature for both occupants’ comfort and energy saving; and

6. assessing the compliance of environmental, social and governance
practice of investee when considering future investments.

Social

Employment

Employees is the most valuable asset to the Group. It is the policy of the
Group to employ person which is suitable to the position with equal
opportunity. Competitive remuneration package will be provided for the
employees. The Group will also comply with the relevant employment laws
and regulations.
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At Year End Date, the Group had 8 employees with ages ranging from 42 to R E&H - NEB H8Z EB N T 42 E 665 1
66 who have worked in the Group ranging from within 14 months to about 13 8 AR EE TEN F14@ A B13E L& ©
years. The distribution of gender of the employee of the Company is shown in T 3& 5I| & A A 54E 8 1% R 5 5 -

the table below:

Number of Number of
male staff female staff Turnover rate

B ko3
As at n EE#H EE®A R R
1 January 2022 202241 A1H 6 4 50%
Year End Date F4EH 5 3 20%

The laws on labour govern the employment of the Group which affect the S T EFIEEAEEBNER  ExELKXER
remuneration and retirement benefits payable to the employees of the Group. FENEEENTMMEERET -

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with employment related laws RAFER REBTTANREREBEESTS

and regulations that have significant impact on the Group during the Year. HAEBEKRKEATZENREBEBAHBED R
o

Health and safety BREREZE

It is the policy of the Group to provide a healthy and safety working AEBWNKEAMESRBE—FERELRELS

=

environment to the employees. The Group will maintain its office premises H T {EBE - AEBFB BB A TBEEH A S
from time to time in order to provide a safety working place for the employees. R FAk0 @ BEEIRE —FEL 2 TEH T
The Group also encourage employees to participate in recreational activities — 7X £ & JR &5 B) & B £ B2 i3 4D R 22 9 19 B 4%
organised by outside parties. EED o

The laws on health and safety working environment governs the provisionofa fEFEEKZ 2 T {EBE AR E A EEH A M
healthy and safety working environment and compensation, if any, tothe HEESIRHEZELLE2I{ERENLEE
employees of the Group. (IAH) -

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and RAEER XEBI A NEEREETH
regulations in relation to health and safety working environment during the @R R &Z 28 T {EIRIE E’M 5% 0 &R

Year that have significant impact on the Group. Bl B AEBEXNERTE -

The Group regularly promotes employees’ occupational safety and health AEB TH:FBEN e BRI EESE
good practice at work in the aspects of lighting condition, use of office R¥{ZRiE - P AEZRENETH PBAEL
equipment, office safety, computer workstation design and working posture & « ES TEU RS R TEEL S HENIES
through briefing and various communication channels, resulting in better B2 %22 REFIUAR BITHEZ T E =
working environment quality. BEEENTIEREEX -
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Development and training

On-the-job training and continuous professional development are important
elements to enhance the industry knowledge of the employees of the Group.
The Group encourage employees to attend training courses (e.g. Listing
Rules and accountancy related seminars) and reimbursement will be made by
the Group for those job-related training courses. Besides, the Group will
purchase relevant reference materials for the employees’ self-study.

Labour standards

It is the policy of the Group to comply with the relevant laws and regulations
which prohibit the employment of child and forced labour.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in relation to preventing child and forced labour during the Year
that have significant impact on the Group.

Supply chain management and product responsibility

The supply chain contributes only to a small part of the operation of the
Group which the Group has no policy on this area.

The Group does not have products or services provided to customers and
hence the product responsibility is not applicable to the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group has a whistleblowing policy for employees reporting suspicious
cases to the top management of the Group or the Directors.

The laws on anti-corruption ensure the integrity of Directors and employees of
the Group in conducting the business activities of the Group.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations in relation to anti-corruption during the Year that have significant
impact on the Group.

Community investment

With base in Hong Kong and investments in Hong Kong and the PRC, the
Group had made donations to charitable organisations which focused on
charitable affairs for both Hong Kong and the PRC. In the future, the Group
will consider engaging charity or non-governmental organization for
volunteering and corporate social responsibility opportunities.
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To members of

Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Prosperity
Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 48 to 119, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requestments of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

42 PROSPERITY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022

REEREBABERIARR
(RERZEIMALZERAA)

=z
I%\

RAZEE (A TEEI®RM]) BB H N FE48
FOEREREABARARA(ERAAD R
HMBAR (GBIEEE]) MEKREMBFRE
WGRETBREBER-_ZE-_—_F+_-_A=
T HNGEAUBERRARBAHEZALEE
NGBS EmE2EKER KRS
PprREGAESRER UERKETBHHRE
ik BREETZESATBEBE-

BMRAE ZERAVBHREREBREEAS
R AE((EESTMAL]) BMACESY
BHREEDN(TEEMBREENDEEMR
TRy EBEEER-_ZFE_-—F+-A=
+T—BREGEEBRAREBREZBLEFE
NiEaMBREREGERERE  WERK
BEBARGAIMBEERELAREE -

RRENER

BAMCREFTESHMASEMNCEER
ERDN(EBEFERD ETE - HMEZ
SEATAENEFCEARS B
B R AW B RRAENEEIBO T 1EE—
SRt BREEESAMASHEMN(EERS
EMERSTRAD(ATNERITAID - BB
R EEE YERTTAHTNEMLERE
BEME-RFBERE RAMEGSHERTBRER
FRLEEMRERMNE;E DIRHER -



Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matter that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BERETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2 AR

FRAREESNEE

ARBFAFEARREBERMANERAE  BA
BAFEGEAMBERNETRREENS
R TETRTERMNBAEREAMBR
REHARARETREN  REMATESH
ZEFREREBNER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAHNETOAEESE

Valuation of the unlisted equity investment in Rakarta Limited (“Rakarta”)

R R FE F i IR 7 Rakarta Limited ([ Rakarta_|) #9 12 (&

As disclosed in notes 2.5, 4, 17 and 29.5 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s investment in Rakarta, which
is an investment holding company with its subsidiary principally
engaged in zinc and lead mining in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) is measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). The fair value of investment
in Rakarta as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$20,187,000, which was determined with reference to the
valuation performed by independent qualified valuer (“Valuer”)
with fair value gain of approximately HK$169,000 adjusted to
the investment revaluation reserve during the year ended 31
December 2022. The estimated future cash flows of Rakarta
are highly dependent on the significant unobservable inputs and
assumptions used in deriving the future cash flows, in particular
the forecasted selling price, discount rate, forecasted
production volume and marketability discount.
MR E T ERERME25 4 17TR2OSFERE E5EH
M Rakarta (B —HAREZRAF  ANB AR EFERPE
ARKMBE((HBEDREFREFAR NRERRAFES
ARMmEEKE (RAFEFARLMEERRDTE - R
2022412 A 31 B » M Rakarta’k & 2 A *F B 4 420,187,000
B DB EBLEERGER((EER])#EITZMHE
BET WERBE2022F12A31H LFERFE KR
#7169,0007% JT 38 B % & E i f# # ° Rakarta  {fi 5T R 2K
CRETHABEERRREREMAZLEESAEE
MABBLRESR LEESHEAIEE HEX BAEER
i

Management has reviewed the valuation of the investment in
Rakarta and considered the significant unobservable inputs and
assumptions of the valuation are appropriate.
EEEC BN N Rakataz HEFFH WRAE -
PAIBRBABBERBERELEE -

AHZER

We identified the valuation of unlisted equity investment in
Rakarta, which has been classified as financial assets at FVOCI
in the consolidated statement of financial position as a key audit
matter due to the significant estimation uncertainty in
determining the fair value of the investment in Rakarta.

M3 Bl 3F £ T AR AN 1% B 7 Rakarta 8 & {8 1E 45 & 81 75 ik
AEREFERATEFAEMEZARSNEREER —
HEREFE RERE TN Rakartat I & X FE P &
B ET N EE LB ERX -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the unlisted equity
investment classified as financial assets at FVOCI included:

B AE—EHORARATEAAEMEARGRZ &
EEMNFLTRAKREBMENEFBHE:

U]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

challenging the reasonableness of the significant inputs
and assumptions including the forecasted selling price,
discount rate, forecasted production volume and
marketability discount adopted by the Valuer and
management of the Group including the use of external
available market data, such as historical trend in price of
ore, future outlook in mining industry in the PRC, as well
as the weighted average cost of capital of comparable
companies in the same industry;
BEREZHABBERRIZEETAE . BEMEM
kR BEXREEEEMEACENEE MERERIEA
EERIG RN E AT AT RSN E B A
MHSEE  MWEEBELBRBE - REPBEBEEH A
SCUERRA—TEARNLERA AN INEFHER
B

evaluating whether the estimated future cash flows and
annual production capacity of the subsidiary of Rakarta
are in line with the business plans formulated by the
management of Rakarta;

7t Rakarta®) Mt B A BRI Gt R KRB @ RERFE
¢t Rakarta B R B P Hl E XAt SIS — 2

assessing the competence, independence and objectivity
of the Valuer by assessing their qualification and valuation
experience in similar industry; and
FERMAEEMNERRAEREUTENRELR
N EERMGEMME N BUMRESHE : &

reperforming sensitivity analysis by evaluating the potential
impact of reasonably possible changes in the key
assumptions.
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Other Matters

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 were audited by another auditor who expressed unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements on 15 July 2022.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBRmkEME2ERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z=2022412 31 H [ [E

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHERT FAT

Gross Proceeds from Operations/ REFTSRIEAE WA

Revenue 6 33,250
Revenue PN 6 1,176 2,342
Other Gains and (Losses), net Hib ez N (E38) @ F5 7 2,925 (3,330)
Other Income HAa g A 8 295 2
Administrative expenses THAX (7,137) (9,325)
Investment management expenses WEEERY 25 (960) (4,200)
Finance Costs B 7155 B AR 9 (1,106) (1,443)
Loss before income tax BRETSBATE B (4,807) (15,954)
Income Tax Expense 8 fif X 10 - -
Loss for the Year FEEE 11 (4,807) (15,954)
Other comprehensive income/(expense): H#2EW A (B X) :
Item that will not be reclassified BETEEN T BEZRBHEN

subsequently to profit or loss: IEH:
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair %A FEEF A H i 2 iz >

value through other comprehensive income & & & & A FEWZ (EBE) (24,038)
Total comprehensive expense for the ARG BEBAELFEE

year attributable to owners of the EHAZARE

Company (4,638) (89,992)
Loss Per Share BRER

— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — BEARREE B 14 (1.32)

The notes on pages 54 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated 254 %119
financial statements. o e

LB A A M BERERZ —

\
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR

As at 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H

Notes
B 5

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Plant and Equipments R 5 B 52 15
Right-Of-Use Assets HREEE 16
Financial Assets at FVOCI BEATFEFAEMEERREZ

CREE 17
Financial Assets at FVTPL BAFEFABEREZ

TREE 17
Current assets REEE
Financial Assets at FVTPL BAFEFABRZ

CREE 17
Other Receivables H b fE Y AR 1R 18
Cash Held by Securities Brokers BEK I AEZE S 19
Bank Balances and Cash RITEBLERS 19
Current liabilities REBAE
Loan from a Securities Broker REBHFELZER 20
Other payable and accruals HAbERTBRIBE R FERTARIE
Borrowings BE 21

Net current assets

REBEEFE

Net assets

BEEFME

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TAT

65

20,018

12,967

33,050

25,210
2,568
1,390
1,098

30,266

12,112
2,275

14,387
15,879

48,929
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
KRB B AR LR

As at 31 December 2022 722022F12 A31H

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FEx T T
Capital and reserves ERREE
Share capital A% A 22 30,283
Reserves EE 18,646
Total equity BB 48,929
Net Asset Value per Share (HK$) EREEFE(ER) 23 0.040
Lau Tom Ko Yuen 25 & Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard = Jk R
Director # % Director & &
The notes on pages 54 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated E54Z 1198 Z Ml Tk Aér & M BHE 2 —
financial statements. B e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

S ANE
%,\ =] Eﬁﬁx@)%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

Investment
Share Share revaluation Contributed Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve surplus losses equity
REE R
BA RGEE 15 B4 ER RitEE REBHE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FHT FHT TR FHT FHT FHT
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1 A1H 30,283 192,895 (9,990) 290,081 (414,348) 88,921
(Loss) for the year FEUBER) - - - - (15,954)  (15,954)
Other comprehensive B2 EH %
expense
Fair value (loss) on BERTFEFAEM
financial assets at 2HEMEzE R
FVOCI BEATEEBE) - — (24,038) — — (24,038)
Total comprehensive FE 2 XA
expense for the year — — (24,038) — (15,954) (39,992
At 31 December 2021  }A2021F 128318
and 1 January 2022 202261818 30,283 192,895 (34,028) 290,081 (430,302) 48,929
(Loss) for the year FE(E#E) . - - — (4,807) (4,807)
Other comprehensive E 2 E I A
income
Fair value gain on financial % 722 F{& 5 A E b
assets at FVOCI 2EMEZ SR
BEATERE - - 169 - - 169
Total comprehensive FEE®E
income/(expense) for WA/ (P %)%
the year - - 169 — (4,807) (4,638)
At 31 December 2022 42022412831 H 30,283 192,895 (33,859 290,081 (435,109) 44,291

The notes on pages 54 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated #54ZE 1198 2 MitEEK RN4r & M sk 2 —
financial statements. oo
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeRETMER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHERT FAT
Cash flows from operating activities BRETBREEESRE
Loss before income tax bR ET1S B AT s 18 (4,807) (15,954)
Adjustments for: BUTEBEELAE
Depreciation of plant and equipments BEEMENEREITE 185 194
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEENE = 163
Finance costs BT 15 A AR 9 1,106 1,443
Interest income FEWA = @)
Dividend income i 2 A (1,176) (2,342)
Net fair value (gain)/loss of financial assets at ~ #Z A FEF AB#H 2 &/
FVTPL BEANFEF
(Wez),/ K18 (2,925) 3,344
Exchange gains P& 5 7 = (14)
Operating loss before working capital changes & & & & Z B Al 2 & £ 518 (7,617) (13,168)
Decrease in other receivables o U BR 1B R A 273 411
Increase in other payable and accruals H b S BREIB & FE =T BRI 42 4 1,135 454
Net proceeds from disposal/purchases of HE BEERATEF AR
financial assets at FVTPL CEMEEZBRIEFEE 2,966 28,418
Cash (used in)/from operations KEFR) /R (3,243) 16,115
Dividend received B iR 8 3,463 48
Net cash from operating activities ETEIFHEFE 16,163
Cash flows from investing activities RETHMEBEESRE
Interest received B Uk F 8 2
Payment for purchases of plant and equipments & & % & & & # 2 {1 3 (66)
Net cash (used in) investing activities RETE (FTH)BELFE 64)

The notes on pages 54 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated H54ZE 1198 2 M@K ARG A M BHE T —
financial statements. i
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CONSOUDAHH)SUWEMENTOFCASHFM)NS

HERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

financial statements.

D o

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FEx T T
Cash flows from financing activities BEEHFFERERE
Proceed from loan from a securities broker KBEFBHFELL Z BExz
Fr i3 58 = 1,444
Proceed from loan from a director KE—EBEEFEMNER 1,010 —
Proceed from loan from a third party RE—BIUBE=ZFNER 400 —
Repayment of loan from a securities broker EERABHFELZER (1,607) (28,082)
Payments of lease liabilities TRHEEAE = (176)
Finance costs B 75 Bk 7R (1,106) (1,443)
Net cash (used in) financing activities BETE) (BT BT FE (1,303) (28,257)
Net (decrease) in cash and ReREEELER
cash equivalents (m2) B8 (2,033) (12,158)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January M1A1BZB e RE
Iﬁ $IEH 14,632
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EREE 72 14
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R12 31 B2 E 2R % HE
H&EE 2,488
Represented by 5
Bank balances and cash RITEHB LIRS 1,098
Cash held by securities brokers BEKLEBEZES 1,390
2,488
The notes on pages 54 to 119 are an integral part of these consolidated 254 E 1198 2 M B A 4R & B IS K 2 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12831H IFFE

1.

General Information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange. The addresses of its registered office and principal place of
business of the Company were Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and Suite 305, Shui On Centre, 6-8
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 28.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$’'000), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 were approved for issue by the Board on 30 March 2023.

Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA and the accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Listing Rules.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The
adoption of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed
in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre WIS SRR BT AL

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) which are
measured at fair values.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and actions, actual
results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in
the consolidated financial statements from the date it gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from the Group’s perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12831H IFFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is
held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to
reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or
loss.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is also the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange rates
at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have
been converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average
rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the translation reserve in equity.
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2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

24 MERRME

2.4 Plant and equipments

Plant and equipments are initially recognised at acquisition cost,
including any cost directly attributable to bringing the assets to
the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management.
They are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Motor vehicles 5 years
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures 3 years
Computer equipments 3 years

Estimates of residual value, depreciation methods and useful
lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

25 €T A

2.5 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets (other than financial assets
at FVTPL) and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liabilities and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liabilities, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

— the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

— on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

— it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued) 25 €@ T B @)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “revenue” in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued) 25 €@ T B @)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI or designated as FVOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or loss
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses, net”
in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) will be
recognised on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including other receivables, bank balances and
cash held by securities brokers). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 month after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all financial assets, the Group measures the loss allowance
equals to 12-months ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain/loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount.
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2. FESHHEHME @

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued) 25 €@ T B @)

Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include loan from a securities
broker, other payable and accruals, borrowings and leases
liabilities.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured
at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction
costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

All interest-related charges, if applicable, are reported in profit or
loss are included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in note 2.7.

Borrowings (including loan from a securities
broker)

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date.
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2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (Continued) 25 €@ T B @)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Other payable and accruals

Other payable and accruals are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost
and FVTPL, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to accumulated losses.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.6

2.7

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and securities brokers and short
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows presentation, cash and cash equivalents include cash held
by securities brokers and bank balances and cash.

Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group assesses
whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

—  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to
the Group;

—  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.7 Leases (Continued) 27 HE @)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee (Continued)

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Measurement and recognition of leases as
a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line
basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the
lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12831H IFFE

2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.7 Leases (Continued) 27 HE @)

Measurement and recognition of leases as
a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for
lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-
use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using
the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use
asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these leases
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 month or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been presented in separate line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre WIS SRR BT AL

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.8 Provisions and contingent liabilities

2.9

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money is
material,
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

provisions are stated at the present value of the

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not
wholly within the control of the Group, are also disclosed as
contingent liability unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefit is remote.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. The amount of share
capital recognised is determined using the nominal value and any
related transaction costs are deducted from the share premium.

2.10 Revenue recognition

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment have been established.

2.11 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12831H IFFE

2. FEGHHEMEwW

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

212k EREERE

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Plant and equipments, right-of-use assets and the Company’s
investments in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.
They are tested for impairment whenever there are indications
that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent from those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at the cash-
generating unit level.

Impairment losses is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash
generating unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or
value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’'s
recoverable amount and only to the extent that the asset’'s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised. A reversal of such
impairment is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises unless that asset is carried at revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for the revalued
amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.13 Employee benefits 213 EERTA

Retirement benefits scheme

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries.

Payments to the MPF Scheme are recognised as expense when
employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.

The Group’s obligations under MPF Scheme are limited to the
fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave;
maternity leave; and paternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible for
the entitlement of long service payments under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (“Employment Ordinance”) in the event of
the termination of their employment under the circumstances
specified in the Employment Ordinance. A provision is recognised
in respect of the probable future long service payments expected
to be made. The provision is based on the best estimate of the
probable future payments which have been earned by the
employees from their service to the Group to the end of the
reporting period.
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2. TESHERBEw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

214 B E R A
BERARELRZH -

215 BB 2B RE

2.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

2.15 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit,
including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the
asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. FESHHEHME @
Policies (Continued)
2.15 Accounting for income tax (Continued) 215 iR 28 R E @)
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in ELHHEEAEXEBEEZHNER
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in R SfMEEMm eSS E
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other ERNERNBRSTAZIEEBRE
comprehensive income or directly in equity. AREMmE2ERASEE RN ER
EP E‘E s ©
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net BN EBEENBAFREAER
if, and only if, BRATERAFEEEZT :
(@ the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the @ AEEBEELAITEANRE
recognised amounts; and FIMBEERRESE &
(o) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the (o) HELAFRBEAEL KRS
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. REENGENAE-
The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax AEEEZEZRUATERAFER
liabilities in net if, and only if, EZ2YEEFRBEE N ELERIE
a8fE:
(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current (@ ZERABLEZELUITHEARE
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and ) % B HA A 18 & A B B0 ER A

HAEBEE &

(o)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabiltties relate ) BELEHBEEKELEHRIAS
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on BN R — 15 # 5t LA
either: TR — IR 2 FT S B
(i) the same taxable entity; or (i) B —ER T 5
(i different taxable entities which intend either to settle (i) FrEIRA S ARKERE (M

current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to T8 B FA A8 B8 B 9 S 4
realise the assets and settle the liabilities NEAEPN: %)
simultaneously, in each future period in which HEBEREE) AFE
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets HEELNEEAKRIBEEE
are expected to be settled or recovered. REESNRIKEIEEE

KEEaEZ TRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.16 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and if that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
@iy  is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. FESTHEBE @
Policies (Continued)
2.16 Related parties (Continued) 216 FAEF |
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions () WEFE TIEMGE AlZ
applies: (Continued) EREASEFHEE : (&)
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a V) ERZ@QWNMHENALT
person identified in (a). 22 5 s L R4 ) o
(vi)y a person identified in (a)() has significant influence (viiy R @0 A BT & Bl A I ¥
over the entity or is a member of the key ERAEEARTE
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent % ZEBR(HZEBE
of the entity). BRRZEEERE
(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) MASKEHASE N
part, provides key management personnel services AIREEEEREASRR
to the Group or to the parent of the Group. BRI EMBEE

ZERMKERF -

Close members of the family of a person are those family - ATt Z:EBEFEEHR EZ
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced ATHERZETEEIREER
by, that person in their dealings with the entity. RZANTTEZEBRIEKE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

3. Adoption of Amended HKFRSs and 3. MBI BB B®
HKASs HEERAREBSTTEL
3.1 Amended HKFRSs and HKASs that are 3.1 R2022F1B1B BB 2

effective for annual period beginning on 1 FEHBERZELEE
January 2022 EBRVEBREREARES
2528

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs and HKASs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3  Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs and HKASs in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre WIS SRR BT AL

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

3. Adoption of Amended HKFRSs and
HKASs (Continued)

3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs and
HKASs

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and HKASs that have been issued but
are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts'
the October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies'
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

#h 45 5] B 8 I 3R
ZAIREFBSTE @

3.2 Eﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬂﬁﬂii ME B MB

°%

HEAREBETER

T’ilJ ETHAIIREETBTRBMB
BEEARETEGH LD BM
Elﬁﬂiix& MAEAEHIERER

BREABRE LR REAOR
BT (2120205 BB
10 A R 2022428 7
BERMBREERS
175 2 E3T)

BEMBHSEN  RAERABEAR
F0RBARE HAELERLE
BB EAF8S HIEAEE’

(BE %)

BEMBHRSEN  ERBOIRZTH
F165% (BT A) HERE®

BeElFE1% SHRABERRPR

CHEY FRBREERE
E5% 2 BB
(20204 )

BEENEIE  EHEREZRE
CHESNE L
REENEHRE

F29 (BETA)

BEIENFE b ZER'
(BATA)

EEQHENENRY HE-RHEEZ
CHES, RERREMARZ
ELHA

! R2023FE1A1E S 2 B FABH
& ZHIR AR

2 iR 455 18 7E £ 2 H

8 R2024FE1A1B S 2 B FABH
FEHIR £ R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

re BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

3. Adoption of Amended HKFRSs and
HKASs (Continued)

3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs and
HKASS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on
the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at
the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender
does not test compliance until a later date; and

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of
the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not
affect its classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2022, the related terms and conditions stipulated in the
agreements between the Group and the relevant lenders, the
application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre WIS SRR BT AL

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

3. Adoption of Amended HKFRSs and
HKASs (Continued)

3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs and

HKASS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an
entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

3. Adoption of Amended HKFRSs and 3. BREpAAZ ] B 8 A 3R
HKASs (Continued) % Z% ,\IJ & § 7% = n—l_ ;IIE— JJ (48)
3.2 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs and 32 EEMERERET BY K
HKASS (Continued) MEEAREBESTER
(#|)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting EBGEE E'J E8IR Z1BE]
Estimates — Bt 2ZE
The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary ZETTEEe T Hst A FEEE

amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be
observed directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case,
an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the
objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based
on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

The directors anticipate that all of the new and amended HKFRSs
and HKASs will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for
the first period beginning on or after the effective date of the
procurement. The above new and amended HKFRSs are not
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fre WIS SRR BT AL

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2, the Directors are required to make various
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement of unlisted equity
investment

At year end date, the fair value of this investment was amounted to
HK$20,187,000 (31 December 2021: HK$20,018,000) with a fair value
gain of HK$169,000 in the Year (Year 2021:
HK$24,038,000) adjusted to investment revaluation reserve.
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in
estimations relating to these factors could affect the reported fair value
of the unlisted equity investment.

fair value loss of

Income taxes

At Year End Date, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation
to the tax losses of HK$434,762,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$427,169,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are more than expected, or there
are changes in facts and circumstances which result in revisions of
future taxable profits estimation, a material recognition of deferred tax
asset may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such recognition takes place.

4,
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Jo) - W B B AN F E A FE W % 169,00078
or (2021 FF F & : A F (& /& 18 24,038,000
BIL)ABREREEHHEE - NI EHH
HERITRE BH ABREEDHE &
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Frig®t

REZEBH AR RKEFKEDAE
B - S 4 6 T I8 B 18 434,762,000 7 T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

TRER

5. Segment Information 5.

HKFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the CODM, being the only executive director of the
Company, in order to allocate resources and to assess performance.
The CODM reviews the Group’s investment portfolio and profit or loss
as a whole, which is determined in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies, for performance assessment, up to 9 June 2021.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

The position of executive director has been vacant from 10 June 2021.
Moreover, due to the nature of the Company’s business the Board
continues the view that no operating segment information shall be
presented.

Geographic information

The Group’s revenue is generated from, and non-current assets (other
than financial instruments) are located in Hong Kong.

Dividend income from the Group’s investment contributed over 10% of
the Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 are as follows:

BERUBRELENESRERERABE
BREREE (AR RE—RITESR)
FHRNZAEERN 2 AP ®REE
EHBBEEDIE  UDEEREFHEE
B TBEERAREARIAEE 2 BB
HEMEAEFMRFKEE(BRERERZ
CHRREE)NETKRBAFNGH EE
20216 A9B Ik Btk AEE W& 5
TEHNEEDELER -

2021 F6 A10H » ITEE — B A
BE-HRARIZEREE EFo4
FHRER A YEZ2HKEEDHE

32 5 5
AEBZBAKRBERE MEFRBDE
EGEB T AN MIREE

BEAFE R2021FFE HAEE
BUAI0% A £ 2 REFIZERKRBBKA
I

Investee A

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT &L
2,204
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire M HRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

Gross Proceeds from Operations/
Revenue

6.

The following table shows the gross proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL which are revenue in nature for tax purposes and the
revenue of the Group, which represents the dividend income:

e IS KIE

nven

TRETHERATEA ARG ZS®
BEGIBRBEME RREME) 2ABEX
HEBARAER 2R HEREWA :

Gross proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL which are revenue in

nature for tax purposes Fri5 R IE 42 %8
Dividend income f& B A

HERAFEFABRSEZEHME
EGRBMNE RKREEE) 2

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
TRERT THET
30,908

2,342

33,250

Revenue in the Year represents dividend income of HK$1,176,000 (Year
2021: HK$2,342,000).

7. Other Gains and (Losses), Net

N EEF WA TR KB U A1,176,0007%8 7T
(2021 [Z : 2,342,000 7T) °

Htpis & (BF8) - F8

Fair value changes of financial assets at
FVTPL — gain (loss)
— capital in nature for tax purpose
— revenue in nature for tax purpose

BAFEIABSZORAE
AT EEH — Wi G518
— BT S BAANE
— BT E A

Net exchange gain I 5 Y

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T THT
4,534 (1,502)
(1,609) (1,842)
(3,344)

14

(3,330)

The fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL comprised of net
realised losses for disposal of financial assets at FVTPL of
HK$21,664,000 (Year 2021: HK$72,004,000). Theses figure represent
the difference between proceeds on disposal and the original costs of
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL.

BAFEFABEZCHEEATESE
PEREHERATEFABZZEHE
B 2 B % 3 % 518 21,664,000 7T (2021
FEEE 72,004,000 7C) ° WLEEHE R
HEERATFEFABREZEMEEN
FTEREMEBARNREZ ZEM
B o

2022 %5 | BEREBEBERALA




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

8. Other Income 8. Hfttlg A
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Bank interest income HRITH B WA 2
Government subsidies (Note) BRI 48 Bh (GE) —
Others — Proceeds on disposal of Hith — HE ZATE & MH
automobiles previously written off BB TS R -
2
Note: Wage subsidies were granted from the Hong Kong Government's H O AFE,BABRBOIBEREE
Employment Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund for the & RH A 812 R T & #H BE A {E
use of paying wages of employees from May to July 2022 during X H202265 A Z7TA A M E &
the Year (Year 2021: Nil). TEQOIEEFE : &) -
9. Finance Costs 9. B B
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T T
Interest on loan from a securities broker KEFHERL 2 ERFE 1,439
Interest expenses of lease liabilities HEBBEZMERX 4
1,443
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. Income Tax Expense

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made since there was no

assessable profit for both years.

Reconciliation between income tax expenses and loss before income

tax at applicable tax rates:

fre WIS SRR BT AL

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

10. RSB B <

F 7 A R [ R P B 4R 15 A AR PR R TR
A M BB AN EH AL -

REAMETE ZMSHAERE

TRATE B 2 ¥ Bk -

Loss before income tax

BTSRRI B R

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of
16.5% (2021: 16.5%)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of temporary differences not
recognised

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses

B TS BB E16.5%
(20214F : 16.5%) 5t & 2 i 1A

MR B N TNENRMEY 2
BBwe

BB E N TEAHBAZ
WM“E“

RERLRHEEE 2 MG E

AERIMEEB BB E

Income tax expense

EIREE P2

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$434,762,000 (31 December 2021: HK$427,169,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses are
subject to the agreement from the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department and may be carried forward indefinitely.

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT THET
(4,807) (15,954)
(2,632)

270
(389

2,751

R2022F 12 A31H  AEBZ AH A
TH [E5 18 434,762,000/ 7T (2021 4 12 A 31
A : 427,169,000 7t ) A A 7 3K 85 K 2K
S Al o
WEBRRELEHBEEE -MIEEBEAERS
EAERBEBRE B &R AERAES -

B R O KR & AR TR - B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

11. Loss for the Year MMFEER
Loss for the Year had been arrived at after charging: FEBEESHNBR TN KE:
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (@ EIRT(BEESHMH) )
remuneration) (Note)
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITENMEMETR 4,662
Discretionary bonus BIETEAL 373
Contributions to retirement benefits RORAEFET & R
scheme 182
5,217
(b) Other items (b) Hfb1EH
Depreciation, included in administrative THRAZERE T2HhE:
expenses:
— Owned assets —BEBE 194
— Right-of-use assets —EREEE 163
Auditors’ remuneration % SR B 870
Note: At Year End Date, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to . RELZB AEEHEFEMD R UWKH
reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (31 FRAT 4 H R R R R oK 2R (A1 3R 1K 48 A &
December 2021: HK$0). Bl o k(202112 A318 : &

BIT) -
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12. Directors’ Emoluments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire M HRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

Emoluments paid or payable to the Directors were as follows:

12.EEM &

ENRENEEZMMT :

Year KEE

Name of Director EEHE

Non-executive Director: FHITESE -

Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen AEmRELE
(Chairman) (X&)

INEDs: BIFMITEE -

Mr. Feng Nien Shu LR E

Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard 2KREAE

Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa -

Year 2021 2021 F F /&

Name of Director EEHE

Executive Director and HITEFFESE
managing director: AT

Mr. Cheng Hairong (note i)

B AR 5 A (FED

Fees

ik
HK$’000
FTAT

Retirement

benefit

Salaries and Discretionary scheme
allowances bonus contributions Total

RANERGE
HFERZER BB TEAL = # st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

Non-executive Director: FFHITEE -
Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen AmREE

(Chairman, note ii) (EFF - &) = - - - -
INEDs: I IFMITEE -
Mr. Feng Nien Shu R E 100 - - - 100
Mr. Lui Siu Tsuen, Richard 2KREAE 100 — - - 100
Ms. Wong Lai Kin, Elsa BEBEBELL 100 = = - 100

300 — = = 300
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

12. Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

The executive Director’'s emolument shown above was for his service
as director and in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The non-executive Director’s and INEDs’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors.

No emolument were paid by the Group to any Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during both years.

There was no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during both years.

note i Mr. Cheng Hairong resigned on 21 May 2021.

noteii Mr. Lau Tom Ko Yuen was re-designated as an executive director,
chairman of the board, chairman of nomination committee and managing
director on 21 May 2021 and further re-designated as a non-executive
director on 10 June 2021 and continued to act as Chairman and
Chairman of the nomination committee.

13. Five Highest Paid Individuals’
Emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, none
(Year 2021: none) was a Director. The emoluments of these 5 (Year
2021: 5) individuals were as follows:

12.

13.

BEEMWE @

EXFRZATESHE RENELE
ERERARBRAEEEEZHE -

EXRRZIERTESE R B FNTE
EMERREEETEFT2ME -

RMEFERN A"EEYTERTFNES
XHME AMERMBINMBEREHE
B 2 Mk (F SRR 2 i fE -

MEENEZNZMEFERREXF
BREEMME 8 25 -

i OB EAER2021ES A1 BBIERME
B 7% o

Ti BEREAN2021E5 A21 BEAEA
RARZHOTEERBECRESFS
TR REZESTIFEREZTHLERM
BR2021E6 S10B BFAEAARAT Z
FNITES REBETAREENIE
BREBEEF -

IEBREHFHALHS

AEBREEaTMALRHESS
(2021 F F B : /) %55 (2021 F F
E:5R)ANTZBE&WMT :

2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$'000
TRERT TAT

Salaries and other benefits FekEMER
Discretionary bonus IETEAL

Contributions to retirement benefits scheme B 4K #& F1) 51 2 £ 7

2,992
195
120

3,307
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. Five Highest Paid Individuals’
Emoluments (continued)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

ire M HRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

13. EBBREFMALTHF @

WEZMENFTIHE :

2022 2021

No. of No. of

employee employee

BEEA™ EE AR

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 N8 35 1,000,000 7% 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 % 7T 1

No emoluments have been paid to the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

for loss of office during both years.

14. Loss Per Share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

RMEFE AEBITEAREESH
A XS - DAYE 2R A0 BE s in B8
AEERZHEMAERRER ZMHE-

14.5RE#E

A AT 5 R A 1 T R A
TR

2022 2021

Loss attributable to owners of the Company 7N A BB A FE(E E 8 (T4 T)

(HK$’000)

(4,807) (15,954)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares st E &R EIEZ BT EBK
in issue for the purposes of loss per share  Jn4E 39 & (F %)

(in thousands)

1,211,320 1,211,320

The diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share as there
was no potential dilutive ordinary share outstanding during both years.

B R B EBATEIN BT
BERR HERBEIERESRAENR
B EAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

15. Plant and Equipments

15. E K& B

Office
equipment,
Motor furniture Computer
vehicles and fixtures equipments Total
N I
BRE BRRREE ERE Bzt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHIT
Cost Jo %N
At 1 January 2021 ®2021F1 A1 H 2,918 4 157 3,079
Additions NE — 21 45 66
Written off 85 (2,918) (4) (143) (3,085)
At 31 December 2021 and K2021F12A31H K
1 January 2022 20221 H1H — 21 59 80
Additions NE 950 — — 950
At 31 December 2022 M2022%F 12831 H 950 21 59 1,030
Accumulated depreciation 2 IE
At 1 January 2021 R20214F1H1H 2,736 4 146 2,886
Charge for the year FEHK 182 3 9 194
Written off it 58 (2,918) 4) (143) (3,065)
At 31 December 2021 and R2021F12A31H K
1 January 2022 202241 A1H — 3 12 15
Charge for the year F 2Bk 159 7 19 185
At 31 December 2022 720226128 31H 159 10 31 200
Carrying values REE
At 31 December 2022 20224128 31H 791 1 28 830
At 31 December 2021 7202112 A31H — 18 47 65
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16. Right-Of-Use Assets

ire M HRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

16. FFHEEE

HK$’000
FA& T
Cost A
At 1 January 2021 20211 A1H 734
Written off upon termination of lease TH A £ 1 R HER (734)
At 31 December 2021 and MR2021F12A318 K
31 December 2022 #2022 12831 H -
Accumulated depreciation ALt E
At 1 January 2021 R2021%F1 A1H 571
Charge for the year FEMR 163
Written back upon termination of lease 8 %7 4% 1| & $ 3] (734)

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022
Charge for the year

MR2021F12 A31H &
20221 A1H
FE kR

At 31 December 2022

A2022%12A31H

Carrying value
At 31 December 2022

REE
M2022F 128311

At 31 December 2021

2021912 A31H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

17. Financial Assets at FVOCI/FVTPL 17. % 2|
m
2021
HK$'000
FA T
Unlisted equity investment designated at BEARAFET AHEM2EK
FVOCI (Note) B2 EMRAKRE (M5 20,018
Non-current portion KRB I A
Listed equity investments classified as DEABEAFEFABZZ SR
financial assets at FVTPL which is capital BEZ FTERAKRE
in nature for tax purpose HABMBME RERNEE 12,967
Current portion 7 B 26 42
Listed equity investments classified as DEALAFEFABZE SR
financial assets at FVTPL which is revenue ~ BE 2 FHIRAKRE - 5 H
in nature for tax purpose HwmE AREHE 25,210
Note: The investment is not held for trading, instead, it is held for long-term Mzt : ZREALTHIEEST  MaRBERD
strategic purposes. The Directors have elected to designate this BHE - ETCEEETHBRAKREZE
investment in equity investments at FVOCI as they believe that recognising BEREBEAFEFAEMZE RS BA
short-term fluctuations in this investment’s fair value in profit and loss RERR RERPERZREZAT
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding this BERRPEASERAFEZRE
investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance potential WREREREEERR ZRETH
in the long run. —%e
At year end date, financial assets at FVTPL of HK$26,997,000 (31 REHEB BRAFEFAEBRZE/MAE
December 2021: HK$27,645,000) were pledged to a securities broker £ 26,997,000 % T (2021412 A 31 A :
for the margin loan of HK$10,505,000 (31 December 2021: 27645000 ) EHH T — BB HK
HK$12,112,000) granted to the Group (note 20). KANEFE—ERTAEBZARER

10,505,000 % 7t (2021 F 12 A 318 :
12,112,000 7T) (i 5E20) °
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=]
I

B 7% ¥R 3% I 7

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

Other Receivables

18. H i B W R 18

2022
HK$’000
TRERT

2021
HK$'000
TET

Dividend receivable JiE W AR B,
Other prepayments and deposits HMBEARBERES
Other receivables E e U BR IR

Cash Held by Securities Brokers/
Bank Balances and Cash

The cash held by securities brokers carry interest at market rates which
range from 0% to 0.25% (Year 2021: 0.01% to 0.25%) per annum.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0% to
0.02% (Year 2021: 0% to 0.02%) per annum.

Loan from a Securities Broker

At Year End Date, the margin loan from a securities broker was secured
by a portfolio of financial assets at FVTPL held under the margin
account, with a total market value of approximately HK$26,997,000 (31
December 2021: HK$27,645,000). The Group’s margin loan has no
determined maturity date and is subject to interest specified from time
to time by the securities broker. The maximum amount of the margin
loan granted by the securities broker depends on the market value of
the assets pledged with the securities broker. Throughout the year, the
daily interest rate was ranging from 9.252% to 20.000% calculated on
365 days (Year 2021: 9.252% on the same calculation method). The
finance cost for the Year is set out in note 9.

20

BHEERBEAZESEMEFHNEN
T 0% & 0.25% (2021 FEEZ : 0.01% &
0.25%) &t B ©

RITHBETMHFERN RN F0%ZE0.02%
(2021 EFE : 0% £0.02%) 51 & °

REFHFELZER

NEFLB REBELLZHEERT
HIFBREFENFAEZRAFE AR
HZERMBEZHAMER  AHEY
#526,997,0007% 7t (2021412 A31 8 :
27,645,000/ L) - AEBE 2 fFRE R
EETIHHE TARELFCKLTEE
EZHRFHE BELKLEBETZHAREE
AR BEIANERTELAR R 2
BEZMBEE AFESBNENT
/49.252% & 20.000% LA — fF365 H 5+ &
(2021 F F [ : 9.252% Rl — 5T E %K) °
ANEZ OISR AT A KT 59 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

21. Borrowings 21.6 8
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loan from a director RE—EEZER -
Loan from a third party KA—F=ZHZER —
At Year End Date, the loan from a director and a third party were RNEFKEB RE—ESZERERE —
unsecured, interest-free and repayable in six months from the date of FEZFZERTEERF &2FEREAER
draw down. 7~ME R AER o
22, Share Capital 22, [ A
Number of Nominal
shares value
K5 EE A
HK$’000
FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each SREE0BETZEER
Authorised: EE
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 120214 K 2022412 A31 H 4,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREHE :
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 R 20214 K 2022912 A31 H 1,211,320,200 30,283
23. Net Asset Value Per Share 23.BREEFE
Net Asset Value per share is computed based on the net assets value REEFEDEREERAZEE
of HK$44,291,000 (31 December 2021: HK$48,929,000) and S {844,291,0007% 7T (20214F12 A31 8 :
1,211,320,200 (31 December 2021: 1,211,320,200) issued and fully 48,929,000 L) RE BT REH R 2
paid Shares at the Year End Date. 1,211,320,200 f% (2021 12 A 31 H :

1,211,320,200 %) f% 15 51 & °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

24. Earticulars of Investments Held by the 24, ZXEBEBE 2R EF1E
roup

Particulars of investments held by the Group at year end date disclosed REBRFEEBZEZ2EREFBERE L
pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as follows: THHRB|FEAERELNT ¢
Proportion of Fair values of Dividend Net assets
Place of investee’s listed/unlisted  income during attributable to Principal activities/places of
Name Incorporation capital owned Cost  equity securities theyear  the investment operation
FEEES ERi/kER
REERZ BRAES 2 FRAZRE REEEENEE
£ 2t 1 3L 3t B -¢:Ns 4] RE DNVE KA ERE TEEY/BE4d
HK$ million HKS$ million HKS million HKS$ million
BEAT BEBAT BEATL BEBAT
Listed equity
securities
IHRAES
*TC Properties Group  Bermuda 2.51% 71.23 22,94 1.15 96.40 Property development and
Limited (00199.HK) investment, hotel and

leisure operations, securities
trading and loan financing
services/Hong Kong,
Macau, Canada, United

Kingdom and the PRC
EENEEBRER BRE NEZRRRE BERA
A 7 (00199.HK) MEBRE FHEER

Fi-MEX ZELHE

* Greater Bay Area Bermuda 4.94% 3513 4.06 - 87.06  Operation of hotel business/
Dynamic Growth Hong Kong and the PRC
Holding Limited
(01 189.HK)

&R&‘%E BRE EELBEE/FERTE
“Hx‘ﬁ (F¥N
(01 189.HK)

* Blue River Holdings ~ Bermuda 1.06% 17.81 10.81 - 19.89  Infrastructure investment and
Limited (formerly the operation of bulk cargo
known as PYI ports and logistics facilities/
Corporation Limited) PRC
(00498.HK)

EARRERAR AEE ERRENRATHEAD
(IBREEESR &%/ﬂbﬂﬁﬁé@/qjl

B 22 7]) (00498.HK)

* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2022 * R2022F 12 A1 BRBZEAREZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

24. Particulars of Investments Held by the
Group (Continued)

24, AEBREZREFBw

*

Proportion of Fair values of Dividend Net assets
Place of investee’s listed/unlisted  income during attributable to Principal activities/places of
Name Incorporation capital owned Cost  equity securities theyear  the investment operation
FEEES Eri/kER
REEEL RAES 2 FRZRE REBAEMLE
A% 2t 1 3 3t B BRI RE AVE KA EFE IBER/Leud
HK$ million HK$ millon HK$ million HK$ millon
AEAT BBAT BEAETL BEBAT
China Construction PRC 0.00002% 0.12 0.07 0.01 0.18 Banking and financial services/
Bank Corporation Global operation
(00939.HK)
REERRTRG  PE BONERRYE/ 2 REE
BRAR
(00939.HK)
HSBC Holdings Plc England 0.00003% 013 0.08 0.006 012 Banking and financial services/
(00005.HK) Global operation
ELZRERAR  EEE RONGBRSE/ 2HEE
(00005.HK)
Tencent Holdings Cayman Islands 0.000004% 0.1 0.07 0.006 0.017  Provision of value-added
Limited (00700.HK) senvices, online advertising
services, FinTech and
Business Services/
Global operation
EAZRERAR HEES RELERY ERESR
(00700.HK) % eRMRNEER
B/ 2nES
Sun Hung Kai Hong Kong 0.000017% 0.06 0.06 - 0.10  Property development and
Properties Limited property investment in
(00016.HK) Hong Kong, PRC and Other
MBENEERR BE NEEXRRREBBERTE
ERAA
(00016.HK)
Unlisted equity
securities
FLEHRA
#%

* Rakarta Limited The BVI 14.70% 54.05 20.19 — (2,545) Investments in a subsidiary
principally engaged in zinc
and lead mining/the PRC

* Rakarta Limited RERAHE REREFENFHRBAR

Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

24, Particulars of Investments Held by the 24. XEBREE 2B EH B @
Group (Continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Group at 31 December 2021 REER2021F12 A3 BRHAZREF
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as follows: ERE FHBRAFEAETHENT ¢
Proportion of Fair values of Dividend Net assets
Place of investee’s listed/unlisted  income during attributable to Principal activities/places of
Name Incorporation capital owned Cost  equity securities theyear  the investment operation
FEEES ERi/kER
REERZ BAES 2 FRAZRE REEEENEE
£ 2t 1 3L 3t B -¢:Ns 4] RE DNVE KA ERE TEEY/BE4d
HK$ million HKS$ million HKS million HKS$ million
BEAT BEBAT BEATL BEBAT
Listed equity
securities
IHRAES
*TC Properties Group  Bermuda 2.39% 71.23 26.61 2.29 95.43  Property development and
Limited (00199.HK) investment, hotel and

leisure operations, securities
trading and loan financing
services/Hong Kong,
Macau, Canada, United

Kingdom and the PRC

EENEER BRE NEERRRE BERA
ERAA HEELE BFEER
(00199.HK) BEXRARE/EE R

F-mex HERPE

* Greater Bay Area Bermuda 4.94% 3513 6.55 - 88.56 Operation of hotel business/
Dynamic Growth Hong Kong and the PRC
Holding Limited
(01 189.HK)

ER&“HE BRE EEEBEE/FERTE
“Hxﬁ (N
(01 189.HK)

China Development  Cayman Islands 0.66% 22.94 246 - 12.13  Investments in money market
Bank International securities and equity and
Investment Limited debt related securities in
(01062.HK) listed and unlisted entities

on a global basis/HK and
the PRC

ERERRE REME REZ 2 BHETHEFIU
ERAA RETRFELTERZR
(01062.HK) EREKERES/BE

K
* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2021 * R20215F12 A31BRHBZEAREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

24. Particulars of Investments Held by the 24. ZEBREE 2 RSB @
Group (Continued)

Proportion of Fair values of Dividend Net assets
Place of investee’s listed/unlisted  income during attributable to Principal activities/places of
Name Incorporation capital owned Cost  equity securities theyear  the investment operation
FEEES Eri/kER
REEEL RAES 2 FRZRE REBAEMLE
A% 2t 1 3 3t B BRI RE AVE KA EFE IBER/Leud
HK$ million HK$ millon HK$ million HK$ millon
AEAT BBAT BEAETL BEBAT

*Blue River Holdings ~ Bermuda 1.05% 17.81 1.12 - 2991 Infrastructure investment and
Limited (formerly the operation of bulk cargo
known as PYI ports and logistics facilities/
Corporation Limited) PRC
(00498.HK)

ENZRERAR AEE HERBURAZRHEEA
(FIBRES Iﬁ kinkiee &/ mE
B 2 71) (00498.HK)

China Construction PRC 0.00002% 0.47 0.32 0.02 0.76 Banking and financial services/
Bank Corporation Global operation
(00939.HK)

tERRETRG  PE RONGBRE/ 2RES
ERAA
(00939.HK)

HSBC Holdings Plc England 0.00003% 0.44 0.27 0.001 0.42 Banking and financial services/
(00005.HK) Global operation

ELERERART  RRE BONERRYE/ 2 REE
(00005.HK)

Tencent Holdings Cayman Islands 0.000004% 0.28 0.18 - 0.04  Provision of value-added
Limited (00700.HK) senvices, online advertising

services, FinTech and
Business Services/
Global operation
EAERERA REHE REZERYE ERESR
(00700.HK) % eRMRNEER
B/ 2REE
* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2021 & MR2021F12 A1 BRBZEAEZE
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24. Particulars of Investments Held by the
Group (Continued)

24, AEERE2REFBw

Proportion of Fair values of Dividend Net assets
Place of investee’s listed/unlisted  income during attributable to Principal activities/places of
Name Incorporation capital owned Cost  equity securities theyear  the investment operation
FEEES LRk LR
REEEZ BRAES 2 FRZRE REBAEMLE
7% 2t 1 3 3t B - 40] RE AVE KA EFE IBER/Leud
HK$ million HK$ millon HK$ million HK$ millon
BERT BEBT BEBT BEET
Success Universe Bermuda 0.08% 0.27 0.16 - 0.27 Engaged in the travel-related,
Group Limited lottery and property
(00487.HK) investment businesses/
Hong Kong, Macau,
Canada
EERBRERAR AEE WEREET PRRDE
(00487.HK) RELH/BE RHR
mex

CNOOC Limited Hong Kong 0.00003% 012 012 - 0.20 Engaged in the exploration,

(00883.HK) development, production
and sale of crude oil and
natural gas/Global operation

TESEERER B KEHF BE - £EN

2 1(00883.HK) HERARRAR/
pRiER

Unlisted equity

securities
FLEmRA
#%

* Rakarta Limited The BVI 14.70% 54.05 20.02 - (2,513) Investments in a subsidiary
principally engaged in zinc
and lead mining/the PRC

* Rakarta Limited HERTES RERTERZHRBFAR
MKEAE/

* Significant Investments held as at 31 December 2021 * R2021F12 A1 BHEEZEAEKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

24. Particulars of Investments Held by the
Group (Continued)

An analysis of realised and unrealised losses is as follows:

24, AEERE2REFBw

ERRRASREERZHHMT :

Realised losses Cumulative

for equity unrealised losses for
investments equity investments
disposed held by the Group as
during the year at the reporting date
RBEBHEEER

FRAHEZREAR BAZRARENRE
ENESRRER RERER
HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHT

(Note (i) (Note (iii))

(B 7 (i) (B =2 i)

31 December 2022
Hong Kong listed equity investments
Unlisted equity investment

20225 12A31H
BB LETRARE
FEMBRARE

31 December 2021

2021F12H31H

(21,664) (57,984)

- (33,859)

(21,664) (91,843)

Hong Kong listed equity investments & F IR AN E (72,004) (82,573)
Unlisted equity investment JEEFTRAKRE — (34,028)
(72,004) (116,601)

Notes:

B &L :

(i)

For listed equity investments, net assets attributable to the investment are
based on latest published financial information of the relevant investment.
For unlisted equity investment, net assets attributable to investments are
based on latest financial statements or management accounts of the
investment.

Realised losses during the year represent the difference between the
proceeds on disposal and the initial acquisition cost of the respective
investment in financial assets. Among the realised loss of HK$21,664,000
(Year 2021: HK$72,004,000), HK$21,664,000 (Year 2021:
HK$72,004,000) and HK$0 (Year 2021: HK$0) represented the realised
loss on the disposal of financial assets at FVTPL which are revenue and
capital in nature respectively for tax purposes.

Unrealised losses represent the difference between fair value and cost of
the respective investment in financial assets.
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EFEDAEBRERB NE &N
MIEER BIKE - BLIE ETBRAREM
5 REBBEEREEEFEBEINRER
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(i) FRAEZEBEELEFHSRE
EREZIHMBREBHEENBEEK
Az EZ7Ee KRB # R E 521,664,000
7 70 (2021 & 4 & : 72,004,000 JT )
f + 21,664,000 JT(2021F F E:
72,004,0007% 7T ) & T % Jr (2021 F &
E:THL)EBHERAFEFABZ
ZEMEEZCDEEBE  ERBBEM
SRR AR RENES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire M HRAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

25. Related Party/Connected Transactions 25.BE 5 BEX S

Except for the loan advanced from a director as disclosed in note 21,

BRARMEAAMEENRE —EE2E

the Group entered into the following related party/connected N MEEEAN NEBEFTZATE

transactions during both years.

BE/ERS -

2022 2021
Name Relationship Nature of transaction HK$°000 HK$'000
=E 22RES RE5MHHE THET FHET
Opus Capital Investment manager of Investment management 4,200
the Company fees expense
BlE &R KRR ZIREKE REBEERAY

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management

FRN EFRAEETEETEREEMK

personnel of the Group during the year was as follows: B2HEMAT
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Directors’ remuneration E5We 300
Short-term employee benefits EHHEERA 3,159
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKEA T 23R 17
3,576
The emoluments of key management (excluding Directors) were within TEETEREB(TNBEEE)2MEeN T T
the following bands: LIEDEE
2022 2021
No. of No. of
employee employee
EBEAH =W
Not exceeding HK$ 1,000,000 A8 381,000,000 7% 7T 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /% 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7T 1
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KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

26. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising 26. MEETHELEEBE2HIR
from Financing Activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TRFMAEFRETHELEABE &
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. B AEREeNERESES A EH
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows FFECaEAYBNAERGEAIRS
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated mEBEROEAMBETEMERESREZ
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. REREXRALRESRE °
Loan from a
Lease securities
liabilities broker Borrowings Total
REES
HEERE LLZEX &g @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FHAT
At 31 December 2021 2021 %12 A31 H 12,112
Cash flows ReRE
— Repayment of loan from a securities —EEREFFLL
broker EX (1,607) (1,607)
— Loan interest expense paid —BERERMEHX (1,106) (1,106)
— Proceeds from loan from a director —RE-EBZEX 1,010
— Proceeds from loan from athird paty — RE—£=H 2 &% 400
Non-cash: FEERE
— Interest expenses —-MEBAX 1,106
At 31 December 2022 202212 31 H 10,505 1,410 11,915
At 31 December 2020 7202012 31 H 176 38,750 — 38,926
Cash flows REeEnE
— Proceeds from loan from a securiies ~ — KRB EFH L4 7 &
broker Z B HIAE - 1,444 - 1,444
— Repayment of loan from a securities -~ EBERBBALLZ
broker g% - (28,082) - (28,082)
— Loan interest expense paid - ENERMERZ - (1,439) - (1,439)
— Capital element of lease rentals paid —EfNEe 2 EXH D (176) - - (176)
— Interest element of lease rentals paid ~~ — 2[4 2 F| & 55 @) - - 4
Non-cash: FBE
— Interest expenses —-MBHZ 4 1,439 - 1,443
At 31 December 2021 #2021 12 A 318 — 12,112 — 12,112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

27. Statement of Financial Position of the 27. & A T 2 B #& 4k SR &
Company

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FB T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE

Non-current asset IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RR 2’ E 1
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U — R B /B R | 58 20,018
20,019

Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI B/ 38,178
Other receivables E e U R IR 262
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRERE 194
38,634
Current liabilities RBEE

Amount due to subsidiaries XN IENGIE S 15,634
Other payable and accruals H b FE (T BRTE R FE TR 1H 1,464
17,098
Net current assets REBEEFE 21,536
Net assets EEFE 41,555

Capital and reserves EXRFEE
Share capital A& 75 30,283
Reserves (Note (i) o 18 (P 3EG) 11,272
41,555
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KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

27. Statement of Financial Position of the

27. &R R T 2 B AR R |/ )

Com pPany (continued)

Note (i): B 3E ()

Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
BR 17 55 8 BERAER RitEE Ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
At 31 December 2020 202012 A31 H 192,895 123,754 (259,199) 57,450
Loss for the year FEER - - (46,178) (46,178)
At 31 December 2021 #R2021F12A31H 192,895 128,754 (305,377) 11,272
Loss for the year FEEIE - - - -
At 31 December 2022 A2022%F12A31 A 192,895 123,754 (305,377) 11,272

Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between
the nominal value of the Shares issued by the Company for the
acquisition of GR Investment Holdings Limited (‘GRIH”) and the
consolidated net assets value of GRIH at the time it was acquired by
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in 2001.

Under the Companies Act (1981) of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus is distributable to the Shareholders, provided that
the Company is, after the payment of dividends out of the contributed
surplus, able to pay its liabilities as they become due; or the realisable
value of the Company’s assets would thereby not be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and reserves.

The Company has no reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
at Year End Date (31 December 2021: HK$0).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

28. Particulars of Principal Subsidiariesof 28. X AR FEMB AT Z
the Company H1E

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

PR20224F K 202112 8318 A X A £
EMBRRZFHBNOT

Place of Issued and fully paid share Attributable Principal activity/

Name of subsidiary

Loy PN

incorporation capital/paid-in capital
BRIIRBERAS
AR BHRA

Directly held by the Company:
HAQAREERSE:

equity interest

FE A5 B A 4 25
2022 2021

Place of operation

TEER EEBE

Accufocus Investments Limited The BVI 100 shares of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
The BVI
RERELHS 100REBREBIETZ RERR
B 1n RERUHS
Carson Capital Resources Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share 100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REERBRAR EE 118 % AR REER/ BB
Indirectly held by the Company:
HALBBESE:
GRIH Hong Kong 899,900,000 ordinary shares 100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
IRAIR Bk 899,900,000 % % i@ A& REEREE
Genius Choice Investments Limited The BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
The BVI
KBRAHS 1REREEIZETLZ &éﬁ 94
[ 4n) BRIES
Easy Ace Investments Limited The BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
The BVI
REBRAHS 1REREEIZTZ wEERS
& 13 HERELHES
Ever Honest Investments Limited The BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
RERLES 1REREEIZTZ REEKREE
)
Prosperity Management Services Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares 100% Provision of corporate
Limited management
services within the
Group/Hong Kong
SHEEERKERAA B8 2R E AR RS B AR
XEBRY BE
Rich Concept Investments Limited The BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% Investment holding/
Hong Kong
REBRLHS 1REREEIZTZ REEKR BB

ihep)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

28. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of

29

the Company (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

At the end of both report periods, the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. The majority of the subsidiaries are
intermediate holding companies or inactive during the both years.

Subsidiaries of the Company are operating in Hong Kong.

Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments,
other receivables, cash held by securities brokers, bank balances and
cash, loan from a securities broker, borrowings and other payable and
accruals. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
liquidity risk and credit risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 20. REEREERQFE

Value Measurements (continued) il = @)
29.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities VIEREEREERR
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of RAMBEMRARTY 2 RmE SR
financial position relate to the following categories of financial T cmEBEERESEAESEIR
assets and financial liabilities: 5 :
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FA T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost RBERAHEZCREE
— Other receivables — B U BR TR 2,299
— Cash held by securities brokers —BHELLERE RS 1,390
— Bank balances and cash —RITEHRER S 1,098
4,787
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAEBZZ
TREE 38,177
Financial assets at FVOCI BEATFEFAEMEZEREZ
TREE 20,018
58,195
Financial liabilities tRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REERAHEZSREE
— Loan from a securities broker —REBHFLEL ZER 12,112
— Other payable and accruals — E b JE T BRTB R FE TR 18 2,275
— Borrowings — BB -
14,387
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

re BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12831H IFFE

29. Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements (continued)

29.2 Market risk

(i)

(ii)

Currency risk

Certain assets are denominated in USD and RMB which
are foreign currencies of the relevant group entities. No
sensitivity analysis is presented due to the Directors believe
the foreign exchange exposure is insignificant.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances, cash held by
securities brokers and loan from a securities broker. The
Directors consider the Group’s exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk is not significant as interest-bearing bank
balances and cash held by securities brokers and loan
from a securities broker are within short maturity periods.

The management monitors the Group’s fair value interest
rate exposure on an ongoing basis and will consider
hedging significant fair value interest rate risk should the
need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 2. RABEEERAFE
Value Measurements (continued) 3T = @)

29.2 T 15 A K& (@)
(i) HEtEER R

29.2 Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Other price risk

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than changes
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates). The Group is
exposed to change in market prices in respect of its
investments in listed equity classified as financial assets at
FVTPL and unlisted financial assets classified at FVOCI as
disclosed in note 17 and note 24 respectively. To manage
its market price risk arising from these investments, the
Group diversifies its portfolio.

Sensitivity analyses

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting
date.

If the prices of the respective financial assets at FVTPL had
been 10% (Year 2021: 10%) higher/lower, pre-tax loss for
the year would decrease/increase by HK$3,814,000 (Year
2021: pre-tax loss for the year would decrease/increase by
HK$3,818,000) for the Group as a result of the changes in
fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

Sensitivity analysis of financial asset at FVOCI is disclosed
in note 29.5.

EfEREREANRESFHITA
ZAFEIARKRERER
B &b (F = K HME [ & &
{EBRAN) TR B 2 BB o N&
ERERESEEREATE
FABEcemMEEC LT
BRAANRWSHERIZRATE
FFAEMEEKE ZIE LT
TREECKEMARIME
g E e (o Bl R M 17 &
ME24FT ) - BRERZSE
KEEECMERR K~&
BEopHEEMAS -

BRED N

T X G E D T AR 4R
ERMAZZBABERRR
HIE -

HEBEAFEFABRZZ
CRMEECBR EF/TH
10% (2021 FF E : 10%) * &
SEFERBAEBER
b /4% 113,814,0005% 7T (2021
FEE: FEKEEIER
/3% 113,818,000 7T) * T}
HMREAFEFABRZS
MEEAFEHBESHFAHK -

BEAFEAEMEERE
ZEMEEZHEEDHTR
Bt 5E29.5 7 H BE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 20. BEEREERQFE

Value Measurements (continued) ol = @)

29.3 Liquidity risk 203 RnBE T AR
Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the Group will not be able mBESRBIEAEBEELET
to meet its obligations with its financial liabilities. The Group is E4mBa@EaszRk KEE
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of other payable EEHMEMNERELERAER
and accruals and its financing obligations, and also in respect of EmEEKTHRERSREEE
its cash flow management. MEAXRBE SRR -
The following table shows the Group’s remaining contractual TRBELAEBRESHBEZE T
maturity for its financial liabilities which are included in the AEHH(ERIEALEEERSES
maturity analysis provided internally to the key management ERmMAEARNRLREBZEEAE IR
personnel for the purpose of managing liquidity risk. 2 B EA S AT) ©

Within one Total

year or contractual Carrying
ondemand cash flows amount
—FRH EHRE
RER mEAE REE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHE T FAT

As at 31 December 2022 A20226F12H31H
Loan from a securities broker REBHLELZ

B 10,505 10,505
Other payable and accruals H{h fE < BR 1B J2

JEAHERIA 3,410 3,410
Borrowings B’E 1,410 1,410
As at 31 December 2021 2021 F12 A31H
Loan from a securities broker REFBHELZ

= EN 12,112 12,112 12,112
Other payable and accruals Efh BRI R

fET AR IR 2,275 2,275 2,275

14,387 14,387 14,387
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KRB B AR R Y AT

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #;Z2022412 318 [t E[E

29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 9. B % R BEENAYE
Value Measurements (continued) T2 @

29.4 Credit risk 204 & E B

The Group’s exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised
financial assets is limited to their carrying amounts as disclosed
in note 29.1.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
each individual debtor. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credlit risk is significantly reduced.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
uses past and forward-looking information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. The
management would make periodic collective and individual
assessment on the recoverability based on historical settlement
records and past experience. The financial assets of the Group
which are subject to ECL assessment comprises other
receivables, cash held by securities brokers and bank balances
and cash. The management of the Group reviewed and assessed
the impairment for each financial asset individually under the 12
months ECL model. There is no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and the risk of default is low and the
counterparties have the capacity to meet their contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term. No loss allowance was
recognised as the amount was immaterial.

AEBRHFHRERTAEMED
A$%I%?@M’WE%AJ¥KW‘Z
EERR  RRRGEaMBRIR
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REREGFERR EEEEZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B AR Y Rt

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022F12831H IFFE

20. REEREERQFE

29. Financial Risk Management and Fair

respect of cash held by securities brokers as 14% (31 December
2021: 56%) of the total balance was held by one (31 December
2021: one) securities broker. The Directors consider that such
concentration of credit risk would not result in any default
exposure to the Group because the counterparty is a broker with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in respect of bank
balances which are held by three banks. Bank balances were
placed at financial institutions that have sound credit rating. The
risk of default is low and the Group considers the credit risk to be
insignificant.

295 Fair values measurements of financial

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined
based on the observability of significant inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

o Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

° Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly, and not using significant unobservable

29.5

Value Measurements (continued) T = ()

29.4 Credit risk (Continued) 204 5 E Rk @)
Cash Held by Securities Brokers and bank EERCEEZRHERE
balances and cash THHERR S
As Year End Date, the Group has a concentration of credit risk in NEEB  ANEEMRBLALSLEES

zfiiﬁﬂﬁkxﬁféf%EPHﬂ ki
A 45 82 9 14% (2021 4512 B 31
E 1 56%) M — (2021412 A 31
P R)BEEEFRE AR
%ﬂfr?ﬂ%l REEFRRER
REESEEIRZEEN EF
RE BHEESTRKRETEE
BN & B m G A 2 A BB o

AEBERR=MEGT2RTE
BIEFEEEERER - BT EBTE
MRS R TR S RMIE -2
MEBIEAAEERARLERR
T -

TMITREZAVEE

RERE B ISR R R P R RQ T EE
EVSREERABEREEA =
ERZ2AFEER  —@EEHZTIR
BetEffAEAG ABZAIER
BERE WT:

/

4t

luf

F1H - BRAEERBERE
Bz HRECRERAR) -

o Fof: B1MMEME NI
ZAEESIHEEBRZEE
SEBEHAE BXEER

inputs. E-V NGRS PN
. Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or . FoH  ERTABRZEE
liability. FEERAE-
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial TemBEEZERIEY  ATE
assets is categorised in its entirety is based on the lowest level of MIZKEEREALEFEES

input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z£2022%12831H IFFE

29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 20 i B BB EE R A &

Value Measurements (continued) il = @)
295 Fair values measurements of financial 05¢MTAZAFEFE®
instruments (Continued)
The financial assets measured at fair value in the consolidated Riga M BIRR R AL IEE
statement of financial position on a recurring basis are grouped ERANFTEFEZEHEETZ
into the fair value hierarchy as follows: DRATEAFERER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
R 24K FEIH #ct

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR TR THETT THET

31 December 2022 2022F12A31H
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFTABREZ
SREE
— Listed equity investments — ETRAKRE
Financial assets at FVOCI BEAFEGTAHM
THNE CREE
— Unlisted equity investment —JEETMRAKRE 20,187 20,187
Total BEt ; = 20,187 58,329
31 December 2021 2021412 A31 H
Financial assets at FVTPL -G/ Jvr TE FFAB®Z
— Listed equity investments — ETRAKE 38,177 - - 38,177
Financial assets at FVOCI EAFEAEM
THNRE EREE
— Unlisted equity investment —JELETRAKRE — — 20,018 20,018
Total HEt 38,177 - 20,018 58,195
There were no transfers between the levels during the Year (Year NAREE  BEH 2RI mEE R
2021: Nil). (2021 FE : #&) o
The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL was determined by ;22 ATFEEFABRZEHEEZ
reference to the quoted bid price in the active market. NEBEDBREFTRTE FZ28 A
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 20. BEEREERQFE

Value Measurements (continued) T E )
295 Fair values measurements of financial 05 IAZAFEFE@®
instruments (Continued)
The information about the fair value of the unlisted equity ENEEEIR AT EEBREE
investment categorised under Level 3 fair value hierarchy are as ZIHELETRAEEAFEZER
follows: m
Fair value as at Valuation technique(s)
31 December and key input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
RERMRER
MW12A31AZ AT & WAE ERFUEHEE@BAE
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FET

20,187 20,018 Discounted cash flows Discount rate of 20.27% (31 December 2021: 20.40%)
MERENE — BRI K B20.27% (2021612 A31 H : 20.40%) :

Forecasted production volume of 220,000 (31 December
2021: 220,000) tonnes per year
— BAE 2 B & F220,000W (2021 F12 A318 :
220,000

Forecasted selling price with base price of RMB2,027 (31
December 2021: RMB2,018) per tonne and price
changes over the projection period; and

— BRI EENTHEARK20277T (2021412 A 31

EIN

Marketability discount of 20.50% (31 December 2021:
20.60%)
— W5 B AT 1 A20.50% (2021412 A31 8 -
20.60%)
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29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 9. B % R BEENAYE
Value Measurements (continued) T2 @

205¢@ T A2 A FEFE @

295 Fair values measurements of financial

instruments (continued)
Sensitivity analyses

A 2% increase or decrease in the discount rate used in isolation
would decrease or increase the fair value measurement of the
unlisted equity securities classified as financial assets at FVOCI
approximately by HK$4,049,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$4,044,000) and HK$4,821,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$4,814,000), respectively.

A 10% increase or decrease in the forecasted production volume
used in isolation would increase or decrease the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity securities classified as
financial assets at FVOCI approximately by HK$2,647,000 (31
December 2021: HK$2,816,000) and HK$3,165,000 (31
December 2021: HK$3,183,000), respectively.

A 10% increase or decrease in the forecasted selling price used
in isolation would increase or decrease the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity securities classified as
financial assets at FVOCI approximately by HK$5,221,000 (31
December 2021: HK$5,354,000) and HK$5,221,000 (31
December 2021: HK$5,354,000), respectively.

A 2% increase or decrease in the marketability discount used in
isolation would decrease or increase the fair value measurement
of the unlisted equity securities classified as financial assets at
FVOCI approximately by HK$383,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$368,000) and HK$383,000 (31 December 2021:
HK$368,000), respectively.

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

BRED M

B 9% B A 2 B35 R 38 ANk R 2%
BARER D ERBEAFEERTA
Eﬁﬂiﬁuﬁzmziﬁmﬁﬁzati
TMRAZFHF 22 RFEGTERD

#8 A1 #9 4,049,000 Tt (2021 ¢12 H
31 B : 4,044,000 Jt ) 4,821,000
7 7 (2021 €12 A 31 A : 4,814,000
BIT) e

BEIEER 2 TR E = 1 i som
10% KD Al BH B AEAFER
AEME2EKSEZ e/ EEZIE
EWRAFZH 2R FEF =50
s\ R 4 #92,647,00078 Tt (2021 F 12
A318 :2816,000/% Jt) 53,165,000
7 7T (2021412 A 31 B : 3,183,000
S IT) °

BB E A 2 TE R 8 6 (B 1 0 R
LI0% D R ER DB REAF
B ARz EKk=m2SBMEE
ZHELETRABTSF Z2AFEFE
300 =k 2 495,221,000 It (2021
%12 A31H : 5,354,000 7T ) &
5,221,0007% 7t (2021 12 831 H
5,354,000 7T ) °

BB R A 2 ™5 B T
&ﬂ 2% o Rl BB D KRR

AFEEFAEMEZERZZ S H
BEZEETRAZESFRZATFE
5T = A 2> 3k 3 10 £9383,0007% T
(2021412 A 31 B : 368,000/ JT )
1.383,0007% 7T (2021412 31 H -
368,000 L) °

AEERBHERKAARZERE
EFBEZATFEREHRRRS
MESMERARREBRIEE -

02%% | BepEmpsras 11/



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

29. Financial Risk Management and Fair 20. BEEREERQFE

Value Measurements (continued)
295 Fair values measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements of financial asset

5T = @)

205¢ T A A FEE @

TR EEEIRNAFEE
B ¥k

Unlisted equity
securities classified
as financial assets

at FVOCI

PEREAFE

s A H At 2 W &=

ZERMEEZ

FEEHRAES

HK$’000

FA&T

At 31 December 2020 R2020%F 12 A31H 44,056
(Loss) recognised REMEEFS

in other comprehensive income Rz (EE) (24,038)

At 31 December 2021 #K2021F12A31H 20,018
Gain recognised REMEEREZ

in other comprehensive income Rz W= 169

At 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H 20,187

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of its financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.
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30. Capital Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of
the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share repurchase.

30. EXEHE

AEEEAEEEERRAGECER
VAERNFHERLERY RAKERENL
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ZHEBERR REEEZ2HEBER K
SEBEBRNRE BETHRLEED
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
SR A

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2022 12 318 (L& [E

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT T T T T FAE T FHERT

Results E5
(Loss) for the year FE(E8) (87,204) (78,496) (66,644) (15,954) (4,807)

Assets and liabilities EERAEE
Total assets EEMAE 298,278 193,105 129,668 63,316 59,616
Total liabilities BEBE (58,185) (51,890) (40,747) (14,387) (15,325)

Net assets BEFE 240,093 141,215 88,921 48,929 m

Net Assets Value per f& & EFE
Share (HK$) (&) 0.20 0.12 0.07 0.04
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GLOSSARY
el

In this annual report (other than the independent auditor’s report as set out  RARFEHRA (FHRF42E 478 7 BT = H AR
on pages 42 to 47), the following expressions shall have the following &K% 4N) BRIEXEFREMIE BRI T A A=

meanings unless the context otherwise requires: BEBUTHEE
Adjusted NAV Net Asset Value as at the end of the relevant Financial Year, adjusted by (A) excluding effects

attributed to the issue of new Shares, Share repurchase and fund raisings; and (B) adding back (i)
remuneration paid to Opus Capital under the 2022 IM Agreement; and (i) dividends or distributions
paid to Shareholders whether in cash or in specie

RAREBEFE REBEMBFERNEEFE ERUTEEFEDFE  ASIRETHR RHBERE
EMFE RE)ME(NEE202FREEREHAEINTRAIZTERNM S R()ARESHE
MENTRENRE LS IR

Associate(s) has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

ol /N BEREFmRAETZAZEE

Board board of Directors

EES- BExg

BVI British Virgin Islands

BELHS RERELES

CG Code Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

g <A ERBIM SR 14PTE 2 B EE R TR

CODM chief operating decision maker

BEEREE BIEBREE

Company Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability,
whose issued Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

ZN/NS]| REREBEARAT —HMABREFMRIZER AR HERETROPB M E
R

Director(s) director(s) of the Company

BF FIN/NETE ==

ECL expected credit losses

EHEEEE EHEEEE

ESG Report Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HEREBRE RE HERERRE
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GLOSSARY
EElE

Financial Year

M BFE

FVOCI
BRAFEFAEMEE RS

T RAIR

Group
rEE

HKAS
BB G ER

HKFRSs
BAMBREER
HKICPA

BRGNS

Hong Kong
HE

INED(s)
BEHITES

Listing Rules
ERA

the financial year of the Company during the Management Period

RARREERE 2 FBFE

fair value through other comprehensive income

BAFEFAREMEE S

fair value through profit or loss

T_‘/xiﬁu-l-ATE/\

GR Investment Holdings Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

SREAREBRAR —HAREREMALZERAR  XRARBZE2EWNE AR

the Company and its subsidiaries

KRB REMER A

Hong Kong Accounting Standards issued by HKICPA
BEEGMAGEMESGH AL

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) are standards and interpretations adopted by
HKICPA, comprise of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs); HKASs; HK(IFRIC)
Interpretations; and HK(SIC) Interpretations

ARV BBRESENEETBEFMASARANEN RRE  ERBAEMBREER &
At EL EE(BRVBRELENBERTE(FHREZBE Q) RN cBERSE

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

BEGFELE

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
H B E B BT &

independent non-executive Director(s)

BUIAITES

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
X P BT AR B
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Management Period
EEHM

MPF Scheme

R E A

Model Code

T4

2 55 B

Net Asset Value
BEFE

Opus Capital

@7
Tl
+t

GLOSSARY

e

the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 under 2022 IM Agreement
RIE2022 F 1% & B IRtk 52022F 1 A1 HE2024F 12 A31 B IFHAfS

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme established under Mandatory Provident Funds Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

RIpEHFB LAV E486ERBIEATE S BEPIMEM 2R BIEAES S

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules

ERBRAMEI0ME 2 EMBETAERETESFRHNREETAI

the consolidated net asset value of the Group as reflected in its audited financial statements

AEERBECMBEBRRARR ZEREERE

Opus Capital Management Limited, the investment manager of the Group since 1 January 2019 that
provides investment management services to the Group and a private limited company incorporated
in Hong Kong and licensed to carry out Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under SFO
BEERERERARF  B2019F1A1BAREE 2R EKE AEMASEREHRESE
EBRY D EREETMRILZAAERAF  IRBEESFRBEKG AT ETEIE
(RHEEEBR)IXREEH ZFHEA

People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report, excludes Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan

PEARKME gtAFEHn s TREEE BAKEE

Prosperity Management Services Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

FEETERBERAR  —HARBEEMKRILZERAR U RARAZ2ENEB QA

share(s) of HK$0.025 each in the share capital of the Company
ARARRAFRFREEO0.025% 7T 2 k)
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GLOSSARY

e

Shareholder(s)
[i% 3R

SFO
& 77 R B %6

Stock Exchange
Bt 22 AT

Systems

USA
ES

Year

REZ

Year End Date
F#A

Year 2021
2021 FF [

holder(s) of Share(s)
EESE= N

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BEREDIEST1EFH REE KA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMEAERIMBR AT

the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
AEERBERRANNPEZE RS

United States of America
ENBER

year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A31ALFE

at 31 December 2022
202212 A31H

year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31ALFE

2022 IM Agreement the agreement dated 18 January 2022 entered between the Company and Opus Capital regarding
the appointment of Opus Capital as the Company’s investment manager for the period from

1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024

AARHEAEEARANR2022F1 A18HFI U Z @t E XA EEARAAR AR H2022F1 A1
B E2024F12 A31 H ILHARK 2 R E K2

2022 WEE R W

HK$ Hong Kong Doallar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEBETEEET

RMB Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC

AR FEUEEEB AR

usD United States Dollar, the lawful currency of USA
ET ERETE¥ET
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